

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Impact of Self-Efficacy and Time on Skin Cancer Protective Behaviors

Abbie Goldbas Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Quantitative Psychology Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Abbie Goldbas

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Nina Nabors, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Amy Sickel, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Steven Little, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Impact of Self-Efficacy and Time on Skin Cancer Protective Behaviors

by

Abbie Goldbas

JD, University of Miami, 1985

MSEd, University of Miami, 1981

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Psychology

Walden University

November 2018

Abstract

Skin cancer incidence is increasing while the rates of other cancers is declining. The purpose of this quantitative study was to determine whether health self-efficacy predicted skin cancer protective behaviors. The theory of health self-efficacy provided the framework for the study. Secondary data were collected from the 2008 and 2014 Health Information National Trends Surveys. The study sample included women 18-34 years of age because this population is especially vulnerable to skin cancer. Results of logistic regression analyses indicated that higher levels of health self-efficacy predicted greater sunscreen use, but higher health self-efficacy levels did not predict avoidance of tanning bed or booth use. No significant changes were found in sunscreen use and tanning bed and booth use between 2008 and 2014. Findings may be used to develop educational programs and medical interventions to decrease the incidence of skin cancer.

Impact of Self-Efficacy and Time on Skin Cancer Protective Behaviors

by

Abbie Goldbas

JD, University of Miami, 1985

MS Ed, University of Miami, 1981

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Psychology

Walden University

November 2018

Dedication

I am dedicating this dissertation to my husband, David G. Goldbas. He has been amazingly supportive and patient throughout this endeavor. His is my hero in so many ways.

Acknowledgments

First, I thank God.

I would like to thank my dissertation committee members for their guidance. Both have pushed me to write a dissertation that has turned out to be worthwhile. I believe my committee chairperson, Dr. Nina A. Nabors, is a truly remarkable educator with an intelligent grasp of the demands of being a chairperson and mentor. She has been so very patient. The second committee member, my methodologist, Dr. Amy E. Sickel, has likewise guided me with much patience and support. She has encouraged me to strive for expertise, and I will forever be mindful of this lesson as I continue to research and write on health psychology issues.

List of Tablesiv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses
Theoretical Framework
Nature of the Study
Definitions
Assumptions and Limitations
Delimitations
Significance of the Study
Social Change
Summary
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Skin Cancer
Protective Behaviors for Skin Cancer
Theoretical Framework
Theory of Health Self-Efficacy
Protective Behaviors (Dependent Variables)
Sunscreens
Indoor Tanning Devices

Table of Contents

Predictor of Protective Behavior (Independent Variable)	
Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Research Method	
Research Design and Rationale	
Archival Research Methodology	
Participants	40
Power Analysis	41
Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	
2008 HINTS	42
2014 HINTS	43
Study Variables	
Data Analysis	
Preliminary Analyses	46
Main Analysis	50
Validity and Reliability	
Threats to Validity	54
Threats to Reliability	56
Ethical Research	
Summary	
Chapter 4: Results	59
Data Collection	
Results	69

Descriptive Statistics	69
Education	71
Race/Ethnicity	71
Income	71
Assumption Testing	73
Main Analysis	
Research Question 2	77
Research Question 3	79
Summary	
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	
Interpretation of the Findings	
Health Self-Efficacy as a Predictor of Skin Protective Behavior	85
2008 and 2014 Sunscreen and Tanning Bed and Booth Use	
Limitations	
Recommendations	
Implications	
Summary	
References	

List of Tables

Table 1. Data Analysis Summary
Table 2. RQ1. Sunscreen Use and Health Self-Efficacy Missing Data Patterns, 2014 63
Table 3. RQ2. Tanning Device Use and Health Self-efficacy Missing Data Patterns, 2014
Table 4. RQ3. Sunscreen Use and Tanning Device Use Missing Data Patterns, 2008 and
2014
Table 5. Missing Data Patterns, Tanning Bed and Booth Use and Health Self-Efficacy. 66
Table 6. Missing Data Patterns, Sunscreen Use and Health Self-Efficacy
Table 7. Frequencies and Percentages for Participants' Demographic Characteristics 71
Table 8. Frequencies and Percentages of Sunscreen Use, 2008 and 2014
Table 9. Frequencies and Percentages of Tanning Bed and Booth Use, 2008 and 2014 73
Table 10. Global Tests Table (Likelihood Ratios), RQ1, RQ2, RQ3 75
Table 11. RQ1: Multinomial Logistic Regression; Health self-Efficacy and Sunscreen Use,
2014
Table 12. RQ2: Logistic Regression; Health Self-Efficacy and Tanning Bed and Booth
Use, 2014
Table 13. RQ3. Multinomial Logistic Regression; Sunscreen Use 2008 and 2014 80
Table 14. RQ3. Logistic Regression; Tanning Bed and Booth Use 2008 and 2014 81

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Skin cancer, the most common form of cancer, is on the rise (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016a; National Cancer Institute, 2016a). In the United States, four million cases of basal cell carcinoma (BCC) and more than one million cases of squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) are diagnosed each year (Skin Cancer Foundation, 2017). Melanoma is less common than the nonmelanoma forms but is the most deadly (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016a). The incidence rates for melanoma have doubled over the last 30 years (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016a). The American Cancer Society (2016c) estimated that in the United States during 2017, over 87,000 people will be diagnosed with melanoma and 9,730 people will die. For young adult women, skin cancer is one of the most common cancers diagnosed (American Cancer Society, 2016c; Diao & Lee, 2014; Weir et al., 2011). The American Cancer Society (2017) estimated that in the United States in 2017, there will be over 34,940 new melanoma diagnoses in women, and approximately 3,350 women will die. Most skin cancers are preventable because most cases result from excessive ultraviolet (UV) radiation exposure from the sun and indoor tanning devices (Diao & Lee, 2014; Noar, Myrick, Morales-Pico, & Thomas, 2014).

Previous studies indicated that women often do not protect themselves from excessive exposure to UV radiation, which could be accomplished by using sunscreens and avoiding indoor tanning devices (Bagatti, Englert & Cline, 2016; Ch'ng & Glendon, 2013; Diao & Lee, 2014). Underlying factors may encourage women to risk skin cancer (He, 2014; Mahler, 2015). Studies have indicated that some women risk skin cancer because of a desire to improve their appearance with a tan (Mahler, 2015).

The first two research questions in this study were designed to address the results of the 2014 Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) 4, Cycle 4, which included survey data of a national representation of women, ages 18 to 34, to determine whether their beliefs of health self-efficacy, that is their confidence levels with regard to taking care of themselves, predicted their skin care with regard to skin cancer. The first two research questions address the predictive relationship between the independent variable of health self-efficacy and the two dependent variables of skin cancer protective behaviors, use of sunscreen and avoidance of tanning beds and booths.

Health self-efficacy has been studied to determine its effect on people's attitudes and behaviors in many medical circumstances, including those that involve skin cancer (Pertl et al., 2010). Health self-efficacy is a form of self-efficacy that relates to health issues. Self-efficacy is derived from social cognitive theory, a learning theory conceived by Bandura (1977). Self-efficacy describes people's beliefs that they can be successful in their endeavors and achieve their goals (Bandura, 1977). Health self-efficacy is a form of self-efficacy that relates to health issues. In this study, limited health self-efficacy may predict limited skin cancer protective behaviors. Findings from this study may be used to develop health interventions designed to boost women's health self-efficacy levels, which may lead to better skin care protective behaviors and a decrease in skin cancer.

The third research question addressed possible trends between women surveyed in the 2008 HINTS 3 and women in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 with regard to their skin cancer preventive behaviors. The sample means of skin cancer preventive behaviors per group were compared. Significance of the results related to the fact that the number of skin cancer diagnoses has increased (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016a). If findings indicated that sunscreen use was significantly greater in 2014 than 2008, it may be necessary to look for other causes of the increased incidence of skin cancer. It is possible that sunscreens may not be as effective as they are claimed to be (Pratt et al., 2017; Tan, MatJafri, Omar, & Maryam, 2018). This chapter includes the statement of the problem, the purpose of the study, the theoretical framework, the nature of the study, and the significance of the study.

Problem Statement

Although skin cancer diagnoses for women have been increasing at an alarming rate, there has been no conclusive research on the factors that influence skin cancer protective behaviors in women (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016b). Although skin cancer can often be avoided by practicing preventive behaviors, such as using sunscreen, women are not consistent in their skin cancer preventive behaviors (American Cancer Society, 2016e). Many studies have indicated that various factors influence people's attitudes and behaviors with regard to skin cancer prevention, and that these attitudes and behaviors are not necessarily rational relative to the health risks involved (Bagatti et al., 2016; Rosenstock, 1974). These factors include people's desire to look attractive (tanned) and beliefs that skin cancer appears to be unavoidable (Dar-Nimrod, Cheung, Ruby, & Heine, 2014; Guy, Berkowitz, Watson, Holman, & Richardson, 2013; He, 2014). Knowledge of skin cancer and prevention does not necessarily lead to health behaviors (Diao & Lee, 2013). More research regarding underlying motivations and skin care has been promoted.

Empirical research on the underlying motivations that influence women's use of skin cancer preventive behaviors has been inconclusive. Few studies have been conducted on the effect of self-efficacy on people's attitudes and behaviors concerning skin cancer, despite the fact that self-efficacy has been found to be predictive of people's self-care (Pertl et al., 2010). Self-efficacy refers to a person's feelings of being able to achieve a stated goal, and self-efficacy has long been acknowledged as a significant influence on various behaviors (Bandura, 1977). Pertl et al. (2010) and He (2014) found that underlying feelings of self-efficacy are related to women's skin cancer preventive behaviors. These studies were limited, however. Pertl (2010) used a small sample of homogeneous respondent. He's (2014) study was published as an abstract only and empirically ill-defined. The first two research questions in this study expanded on these studies to fill a gap in the literature by assessing whether health self-efficacy predicts women's skin cancer protective behaviors using data from a large-scale national survey of women.

The third research question addressed the problem of high numbers of skin cancer diagnoses among U.S. women and the notion that many women risk skin cancer by not using skin cancer preventive behaviors. I examined the possible trends regarding women's skin cancer protective behaviors (use of sunscreen and tanning behavior) over a 6-year period from 2008 to 2014. Young adult women's responses in the 2008 HINTS and the 2014 HINTS data were compared. This question differed from the first two research questions in that it did not address motivational factors. No studies were found to have used HINTS survey data regarding women spanning 2008 to 2014 (Basch, Basch, Janan, & Ruggles, 2014).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the first two research questions was to determine whether the underlying motivation of health self-efficacy predicted women's skin cancer protective behaviors as measured by the use of sunscreen and use of tanning beds and booths (see Mahler, 2015). Women, ages 18-34, were chosen for examination because they are at high risk for melanoma and are more likely to contract melanoma than their male counterparts (Weir et al., 2011). Further, women are more likely to use indoor tanning devices, which are known to cause cancer (National Cancer Institute, 2016b). The source of the archival data was the 2014 HINTS survey. The identification of health self-efficacy as a predictor of women's skin cancer preventive behaviors may assist the medical community in designing educational programs to prevent skin cancer.

The purpose of the third research question was to compare the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS data to analyze trends, if any, regarding women's skin cancer protective behaviors of the use of sunscreen and the avoidance of indoor tanning devices (see Bagatti et al., 2016). This question addressed the possibility of less use of sunscreen by women in 2014 as compared to 2008 despite promotional efforts by manufacturers to buy it and educational programs that support its use (Basch et al., 2014). Findings may also be used to understand why skin cancer for this cohort has steadily increased in recent years (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016a). Although a causal relationship

could not be determined, findings may be used to motivate women to use more sunscreen and act in healthier ways to avoid skin cancer.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The three research questions (RQs) and hypotheses were used to guide the study:

RQ1: Does health self-efficacy predict the use of sunscreen?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2, and the use of sunscreen, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H7.

 H_a1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2, and the use of sunscreen, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H7.

RQ2: Does health self-efficacy predict tanning behavior?

 H_0 2: There is no statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2, and the use of tanning beds or booths, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H6.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2, and the use of tanning beds or booths, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H6.

RQ3: Is there a difference between women participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 survey and women participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey regarding skin

cancer protective behaviors including the use of sunscreen and tanning behavior as measured by survey responses regarding their use of sunscreen and tanning behavior?

 H_0 3: There is no statistically significant difference in skin cancer protective behaviors of the use of sunscreen and tanning bed or booth use between women participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 survey and women participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey, as measured by the 2008 HINTS 3 survey questions G1 and G2 and the 2014 HINTS, Cycle 4 survey questions H7 and H6.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant difference in skin cancer protective behaviors of the use of sunscreen and tanning bed or booth use between women participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 survey and women participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey, as measured by the 2008 HINTS 3 survey questions G1 and G2 and the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey questions H7 and H6.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for the first two research questions was health selfefficacy theory. This theory attempts to explain people's behaviors and attitudes regarding their health. Although this theory is derived from the work regarding people's attitudes and behaviors about their health conducted by Rosenstock (1974) in the early 1950s (Glanz, Rimer, & Lewis, 2008), the concept stems from Bandura's (Bandura,1977; Bandura & National Institute of Mental Health 1986) research regarding his comprehensive social cognitive theory (formerly known as social learning theory). Social cognitive theory (SCT) postulates that people learn from others' modeling and will imitate others, depending on the consequences observed (rewards or punishments). The theory of self-efficacy, a person's beliefs regarding his or her ability to achieve a goal, dovetails with SCT because people's assessment of their ability to achieve a goal is influenced by the perceived success others have had in achieving similar goals (Bandura, 1977; Bandura & National Institute of Mental Health, 1986). Further, health self-efficacy is a form of self-efficacy and relates to people's feelings about their ability to achieve their personal health goals (Chen & Lin, 2010). With the first two research questions, I wanted to examine the relationship between women's feelings of health self-efficacy and what women do to protect themselves from skin cancer (i.e., the degree to which they use sunscreen and avoid the use of tanning beds and booths).

Nature of the Study

I conducted a quantitative study using archival data from the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS surveys that each had several thousand women respondents. To answer the first two research questions of the study, I used logistic regression statistical analyses with the SAS program to determine whether a relationship existed between the independent variable of health self-efficacy, as measured by the women's responses to the question, "Overall, how confident are you about your ability to take care of your health?" and the dependent variables of skin cancer protective behaviors as measured by the women's responses to the questions, "When you are outside for more than one hour on a warm, sunny day, how often do you wear sunscreen?" and "How many times in the past 12 months have you used a tanning bed or booth?" The response options were designed using Likert scales (Chen & Feeley, 2014; Rutten et al., 2012; Taber et al., 2015). For the third research question, I conducted multivariate analyses of variance

(MANOVAs) to compare the means of the responses by the female participants in the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS to ascertain trends, if any, over the 6 years regarding skin cancer protective behaviors. The 2008 HINTS questions were, "When you go outside during the summer on a warm sunny day, how often do you do each of the following...wear sunscreen?" and "How many times in the past 12 months have you...used a tanning bed or booth?" The 2014 HINTS questions were, "When you are outside for more than one hour on a warm , sunny day, how often do you wear sunscreen?" and "How many times in the past 12 months have you used a tanning bed or booth?" I examined skin cancer protective behavior defined as avoiding excessive ultraviolet radiation exposure. Two protective/avoidance behaviors were examined: sunscreen use and the use of indoor tanning devices. The HINTS questions quantify tanning device use; however, the HINTS data were extrapolated to define avoidance (i.e., a certain number of women do not use tanning beds and booths and thus practice protective behavior by avoiding excessive UV radiation).

Definitions

Health self-efficacy: Health self-efficacy is self-efficacy that pertains to a person's attitudes and behaviors about his or her health. A person who has a high degree of health efficacy is more likely to set an ambitious health goal and is more likely to achieve that goal. For example, a person with a strong sense of health self-efficacy who has a relatively ambitious goal of stopping cigarette smoking without outside support and in a relatively short period of time is more likely to do so. Further, a person who has a

high sense of health self-efficacy will act in healthy ways and follow through with prescribed medical treatments (Pertl et al., 2010).

Indoor tanning devices (beds and booths): These are machines that emit UV light and are used to induce tan or darkened skin. The device can be either a tanning booth, in which one stands up, or a tanning bed, in which one lies prone. The use of either device is timed in minutes per session according to the customer's needs. Tanning beds or booths are known to cause skin cancer, and health organizations such as the World Health Organization warn against their use because they are deemed to produce excessive UV radiation (Diao & Lee, 2014; Mays, Murphy, Bubly, Atkins, & Tercyak, 2016). Avoidance, not use, of tanning beds and booths is a skin cancer protective behavior.

Self-efficacy: Self-efficacy is a psychological construct that refers to people's perceptions of their ability to achieve goals and be successful in their endeavors (Bandura, 1977). The greater the sense of self-efficacy a person has, the more likely that person will be to have high-ranking goals and be successful in achieving them.

Sunscreens: Sunscreens are marketed as topical lotions, gels, and sprays that are placed on exposed skin to protect from UV damage. Sunscreens come in varying levels of protection and range in price. They are not 100% effective; however, they are promoted as a significant aid in preventing skin damage leading to skin cancer (Cancer Research, UK, 2016a; Tan et al., 2018).

Ultraviolet (UV) radiation: Light, usually thought of as from the sun and indoor tanning devices, which can cause changes in skin cell DNA (Berneburg et al., 2004). UV radiation is broken down into two main types, UVA and UVB rays (American Academy

of Dermatology, 2016). UVA radiation is carcinogenic. UVB radiation causes sunburns. Excessive UV radiation exposure is well known to cause skin cancer (Diao & Lee, 2014).

Assumptions and Limitations

I used archival data from the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS surveys for this study. HINTS are biennial, cross-sectional surveys of a nationally representative sample of U.S. adults regarding cancer knowledge and behaviors. Several assumptions were made regarding how these surveys were conducted as well as their results. I assumed that each of the biennial surveys conformed to rules regarding standardization of interview procedures and general rules of data compilation and analyses, and that they had validity. Further, I assumed that the sample represented the population and that the survey measured what it was designed to measure (see Cantor, Covell, Davis, Park, & Rizzo, 2005; Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). I also assumed that the respondents answered the interview questions honestly. Results may have been influenced by social desirability bias due to the fact that respondents may have wanted to appear more knowledgeable about skin cancer than they actually were, or pretended to not risk excessive UV exposure in an effort to appear more acceptable to the interviewer (see Leite & Cooper, 2010).

The major limitation regarding this study was generalization. Results can only be applied to women ages 18-34 in the United States during the years 2008 and 2014. The results do not represent any other population. Another limitation was the fact that I was constrained with regard to the wording of the questions used in the HINTS surveys. For example, the single survey question that operationalizes health self-efficacy is very general: "Overall, how confident are you about your ability to take good care of your health?" (Chen & Feeley, 2014; Taber et al., 2015). Although a question regarding skin cancer and health self-efficacy was lacking, I assumed that access to thousands of young adult women as respondents mitigated this limitation.

Delimitations

The results of the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS surveys were used in this study. Since 2003, the National Cancer Institute has conducted eight major HINTS surveys of hundreds of thousands of randomly chosen U.S. adults to determine their attitudes and behaviors regarding cancer and to explore how they obtain their knowledge of cancer and treatments (Cantor et al., 2005). The respondents can choose to have the interview conducted in English or Spanish, they can complete it over the telephone or in writing and mail it in, or they can use the Internet to respond. The question regarding health selfefficacy and the questions regarding skin cancer protective behaviors of the use of sunscreen and the use of indoor tanning devices conformed to the theoretical framework of this study. The number of female respondents ages 18 to 34 who were included in this study for the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS surveys were 731 and 323, respectively.

Significance of the Study

Several studies have addressed young adult women's viewpoints regarding skin cancer and their self-care behaviors and attitudes about avoiding skin cancer (Bagatti et al., 2016; Heckman et al., 2012; Noar et al., 2014; Pertl et al., 2010). However, these studies were limited by their small sample sizes and homogeneous populations. In the current study, the first two research questions filled a gap in the literature because they

12

focused on whether the underlying factor of health self-efficacy predicts the skin cancer preventive behaviors of women ages 18 to 34. The third research question addressed trends over a 6-year period in skin cancer protective behaviors as measured by the responses of thousands of U.S. women. The findings from this study may enable the medical community to better educate people about skin cancer risks as well as skin cancer protective behaviors. Efficacious skin cancer prevention interventions may save lives and reduce the financial burden for treatment of individuals.

Social Change

Walden University (2013) defined positive social change as "a deliberate process of creating and applying ideas, strategies, and actions to promote the worth, dignity, and development of individuals, communities, organizations, institutions, cultures, and societies. Positive social change results in the improvement of human social conditions". The crrent study was designed with this definition in mind. The results may expand knowledge of women's beliefs and behaviors regarding skin cancer and protective behaviors and may lead to the creation of educational programs about skin cancer and prevention (see Bagatti et al., 2016).

Summary

Skin cancer is a serious disease that is increasing among young adult women (Diao & Lee, 2014; National Cancer Institute, 2016). Skin cancer is unique among cancers in that approximately 90% of all cases are preventable because most skin cancers are caused by excessive UV radiation exposure that can be avoided (Diao & Lee, 2014; Tripp, Watson, Balk, Swetter, & Gershenwald, 2016). Women do not always act in ways to avoid skin cancer perhaps because they believe they are more attractive and healthylooking if they are tan; they expose themselves to excessive UV radiation by getting sunburned and using indoor tanning devices (Basch et al., 2014; Guy et al., 2013; National Cancer Institute, 2015). The first two research questions addressed whether beliefs of health self-efficacy affect women's skin cancer protective behaviors, specifically the use of sunscreen and the use of tanning beds and booths. The third research question addressed trends that may have occurred regarding women's use of skin protective behaviors according to the 2008 HINTS and the 2014 HINTS research. The results from the current study may assist in the development of educational programs that will be effective in helping women understand skin cancer risks and encourage them to treat their skin with care and avoid excessive UV radiation whether they are outdoors or in tanning salons.

Chapter 2 provides a review of the literature regarding the theory of health selfefficacy generally and as it pertains to skin cancer. I also review studies of people's perceptions of disease and personal care, and people's feelings and actions regarding skin cancer.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Skin cancer (melanoma and nonmelanoma) is the most common cancer; there are more skin cancer diagnoses than all other cancers combined (American Cancer Society, 2016; Skin Cancer Foundation, 2017). Over five million cases of skin cancer are diagnosed each year (American Cancer Society, 2016; Skin Cancer Foundation, 2017). Skin cancer is also one of the most common cancers in young adults, especially women (American Cancer Society, 2016a; Bagatti et al., 2016; Diao & Lee, 2014; Weir et al., 2013). Melanoma, which is the most deadly form of skin cancer, is the second most common cancer in women ages 15-19 years (North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, 2016). Skin cancer has been on the rise for the last few decades, even as other cancers have been on the decline (National Cancer Institute, 2016). The rates of melanoma have doubled over the last 30 years; for women under 44 years of age, melanoma diagnoses have increased 6.1% annually (Little & Eide, 2012). In 2017, there will be over 87,000 new diagnoses of melanoma in the United States (up 11,000 from 2016), and 9,730 people will die (American Cancer Society, 2016a, 2017; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016a). The deleterious effects do not just affect individuals. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2014) estimated a national, yearly economic burden for medical treatments at approximately \$8.1 billion. The indirect costs, including lost productivity as a result of the disease, are estimated at over \$40 million per year (Tripp et al., 2016).

Most skin cancer cases result from excessive UV radiation from sun exposure and the use of indoor tanning devices (Diao & Lee, 2014). Heredity is less frequently a main (Diao & Lee, 2014; Noar et al., 2014; Olsen, Carroll, & Whiteman, 2010; Waters & Adamson, 2016). Most skin cancers are caused by risky UV exposure behaviors and, to a lesser degree, genetic conditions such as immune system dysfunction (Waters, Muff, & Hamilton, 2014).

The major cause of skin cancer, excessive UV exposure, is well understood and makes the disease preventable (Schulman & Fisher, 2009). Studies indicated that women risk skin cancer by not taking precautionary measures such as applying sunscreen and avoiding tanning beds and booths, which are known to be carcinogenic (Bagatti et al., 2016; Ch'ng & Glendon, 2013; Diao & Lee, 2014; Noar et al., 2014). Underlying motivations may embolden women to risk skin cancer (He, 2014; Mahler, 2015; Noar et al., 2014).

In the current study, the first two research questions addressed the underlying motivation of health self-efficacy as it predicts women's skin cancer protective behaviors, specifically the use of sunscreen and the avoidance of indoor tanning devices. Archival data from the 2014 HINTS national survey were used to answer these questions. The third research question addressed possible trends in skin cancer protective behaviors among women ages 18 to 34, as reflected the 2008 HINTS and the 2014 HINTS survey results (Volkov, Dobbinson, Wakefield, & Slevin, 2013).

Women ages 18-34 were chosen as the focus of this study because they are at a high risk for skin cancer and are more likely to contract melanoma than their male counterparts (Weir et al., 2011). Melanoma, a particularly deadly form of skin cancer, is the second most common cancer in women ages 15-19 years (North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, 2016). In 2017, approximately 34,940 women will be diagnosed with skin cancer, and 3,350 women will die (American Cancer Society, 2017). These outcomes may the result from women's perception that a suntan is attractive (Guy et al., 2013; National Cancer Institute, 2015; Noar et al., 2014). According to the U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Energy and Commerce Minority Staff (2012), young women are particularly vulnerable to the indoor tanning device industry's advertising and marketing promotions for special occasions such as homecoming and prom celebrations.

Studies have addressed various diseases and theories of underlying motivations regarding the phenomenon that people often resist healthy behaviors and medical treatments despite knowing better (Rosenstock, 1974). Some studies have addressed the factors that influence people to shun healthy behaviors with regard to skin cancer (Dar-Nimrod et al., 2014; Diao & Lee, 2014; Noar et al., 2014). Many studies have addressed similar variables to understand people's approach to healthy behaviors concerning skin cancer. These studies reflect the complex dynamic between motivating factors and healthy behaviors regarding skin cancer risks. The purpose of these studies and the current study is the same: to acquire information that will lead to education programs to reduce the incidence of skin cancer.

The first two research questions were designed to expand prior research through examination of archival 2014 HINTS data from women ages 18 to 34. No comprehensive studies had been done addressing U.S. women and the influence of health self-efficacy on skin protective behaviors. Findings may be used to explain women's skin cancer risk behaviors (see He, 2014; Mahler, 2015) and the underlying influences on resistance to self-care.

The purpose of the third research question was to compare the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS data to identify possible differences between women's risk behaviors and healthy behaviors relative to skin cancer (Bagatti et al., 2016; Volkov et al., 2013). Although this data analysis did not address why skin protective behaviors may have increased or decreased over the 6-year period, findings may generate more research on the efficacy of skin cancer prevention programs. If a decline in sunscreen is observed, further research may address the possibility that women misunderstand the theories of skin cancer reported in the media and on the Internet, and are more apt to believe they have no control over contracting the disease (Dar-Nimrod et al., 2014). This misconception is possible as more and more genetic information, however inaccurate or unclear, is disseminated to the public (Dar-Nimrod & Heine, 2011; Waters et al., 2014). Further, the results of this study may generate research on the possible increase in indoor tanning device use related to the increase in skin cancer among women. Although the literature indicated that women want to look attractive, they may benefit from mass media communications about how carcinogenic tanning devices are (Noar et al., 2014). One study, described below, attests to the efficacy of informed educational programs, another to positive changes in skin cancer protective behaviors over time (Bagatti et al., 2016).

Bagatti, Englert, and Cline (2016) examined the proposition that education can affect women's attitudes and behaviors regarding melanoma. They hypothesized that

women would change their behavior if they knew about the risks of skin cancer. They disseminated information about melanoma to a convenience sample of 72 women college athletes and then tested them six months later regarding knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. Bagatti et al. (2016) found that the women exhibited significant improvement in attitudes about, and knowledge of skin cancer as well as healthy behaviors (Kunin-Batson, Steele, Mertens, & Neglia, 2015; Taber & Aspinwall, 2015; Rat et al., 2015). The research underscores the need to educate the public about skin cancer and the effectiveness of informed preventive programs (Tripp et al., 2016). Volkov, Dobbinson, Wakefield, & Slevin (2013) conducted a longitudinal study of Australians ages 12 to 69 over the 7-year period from 2003/2004 to 2010/2011 regarding their sun-related attitudes, sun protection, and sunburn. The results indicated improvements over time with regard to skin cancer prevention attitudes and behaviors.

The following samples of research include a description of skin cancer, sunscreens, and tanning beds and booths; studies on the phenomenon that people resist healthy behaviors and medical treatment for various reasons, and the underlying motivations that make resistance occur; and an explanation of health self-efficacy theory and its relevance to this study, both as a foundational theory and as the independent variable.

Several online research services and programs were accessed for this literature review, from1954 to 2016, including PubMed, Medline, PsycINFO, Google Scholar, and the Walden Library dissertation database. Examples of the search topics were: *skin cancer, skin cancer and self-efficacy, self-efficacy, health self-efficacy, tanning booths,* *tanning beds, tanning devices, sunscreens, and skin cancer statistics, genetics and skin cancer.* Out of hundreds of articles reviewed, 152 peer-reviewed journal articles, both current and seminal, books, agency and organization reports (such as the National Cancer Institute, the National Health Institute, and the American Cancer Society), and online news reports have been cited.

Skin Cancer

Skin cancer is mostly due to excessive exposure to ultraviolet (UV) radiation from the sun, and to a lesser degree from tanning beds and booths (Diao & Lee, 2014; Noar et al., 2014; Olsen, Carroll, & Whiteman, 2010). There are two types of UV radiation, UVA and UVB. The UVA rays are carcinogenic while the UVB rays are known to cause sunburn (American Academy of Dermatology, 2016). UV rays cause DNA changes deep within the cells of the skin (Berneburg et al., 2004). A person who gets sunburned every couple of years has tripled the likelihood of getting melanoma (Cancer Research, UK, 2016a). Cakir, Adamson, and Cingi (2012) have indicated that the shrinking ozone atmospheric layer provides less protection from the sun's UV radiation. The World Health Organization (WHO) has indicated that tanning beds and booths are as carcinogenic as tobacco and asbestos (El Ghissassi et al., 2009). A small proportion of people are genetically predisposed to contracting skin cancer and some have compromised immune systems that make them vulnerable to skin cancer, however these account for only approximately 10% of all skin cancer patients (Diao & Lee, 2014).

Skin cancer begins as a small bump, mole, or strange patch of skin anywhere on the body (Mayo Clinic, 2016). It is often found on the face, hands, arms, neck, and legs because these are the areas that are the most exposed (Mayo Clinic, 2016). Basal-cell skin cancer (BCC) and squamous-cell skin cancer (SCC) are the two main types of nonmelanomas. BCC accounts for approximately 80% of all skin cancers and SCC accounts for the remainder (American Cancer Society, 2016e). Melanoma is less common than BCC and SCC (its incidence is calculated at approximately 1% of all skin cancers) but it is more aggressive and deadly because it is more metastatic (Skin Cancer Foundation, 2016). Melanoma accounts for 77% of all skin cancer related deaths (University of California School of Medicine, 2016). The average national mortality rate for melanoma is, on average, one person dying per hour (American Academy of Dermatology, 2016).

A biopsy is conducted to diagnose skin cancer (WebMD, 2016). Treatment depends upon the type and severity of the cancer (WebMD, 2016). The main treatment for early-diagnosed BCC and SCC types of skin cancer is most often minor surgery. If it has not been diagnosed early, or is the more serious melanoma, numerous mutilating operations and reconstructive surgeries as well as other cancer treatments may be required (Cancer Research, UK, 2016b; WebMD, 2016). In addition to disfiguring scaring as a result of surgery, individuals frequently experience psychological and psychosocial ramifications such as depression, anxiety, and loss of employment (Anderson & Frank, 2016). To illustrate, facial cancer may be devastating not only because of visible surgical scars but also because speech, sight, and smelling abilities may be compromised (Anderson & Franke, 2016). The deleterious effects do not just affect individuals: the yearly economic burden to our society is approximately \$8.1 billion. The indirect costs, including lost productivity is estimated at over \$40 million per year (Tripp et al., 2016).

Protective Behaviors for Skin Cancer

People can avoid excessive UV radiation and thus prevent skin cancer by doing the following: limit exposure to the most intense light by going out in the sun primarily before 10:00 a.m. and after 4:00 p.m.; wear protective clothing such as tightly weaved garments, wide-brimmed hats, long-sleeve shirts, and wrap-around sunglasses; seek shade when outdoors; and use sunscreens and avoid indoor tanning devices (The American Cancer Society, 2016c). The current study focused on just two skin cancer protective behaviors, sunscreen use and the use of tanning beds and booths, the avoidance of which is a protective behavior.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for the first two research questions is health selfefficacy. Self-efficacy is a psychological concept that attempts to explain people's attitudes and behaviors with regard to medical treatment and their acting against their own self-interest when it comes to self-care. It is one of several personal health care theories as described below.

Health self-efficacy is a progeny of the groundbreaking work in the early 1950's by social psychologists Irwin M. Rosenstock, Godfrey M. Hochbaum, and S. Stephen Kegels (Rosenstock, 1974). They developed the seminal health theory known as Health Belief Model (HBM) to articulate their observations of patients who often skipped screenings and did not fully participate in health services (Champion & Skinner, 2008; Glanz, Rimer, & Lewis, 2008). Health self-efficacy is used in the current study rather than HBM because one of the main propositions of HBM focuses on a person's perceptions of barriers to health care compliance, a factor not considered in the current study.

There are other theories that have attempted to explain the phenomenon of disparate attitudes and behaviors that people exhibit with regard to their health, e.g., The Theory of Planned Behavior (Pertl et al., 2010). The phenomenon has been studied in a variety of individuals having a variety of conditions and diseases, including skin cancer, as detailed below (Diao & Lee, 2013). The overarching premise is that people can hold beliefs that may not be entirely reasonable but which nevertheless predict their behavior with regard to their health.

Several studies are highlighted to exemplify the examination of various underlying motivations, besides health self-efficacy, which attempt to understand people's risky behaviors relative to skin cancer (Dar-Nimrod & Heine, 2011; Pertl et al., 2010; Synowiec-Pilat, 2015; Wang & Coups, 2010). For instance, Janssen, Waters, van Osch, Lechner, and de Vries (2014) conducted a longitudinal study to understand how people's attitudes and behavior depend upon their feelings by studying the sun screen protection activities among Netherland adults. Their study was premised upon the general perception that people will participate in healthy behaviors if they understand that they are at risk for a disease. Jansen et al. (2014) examined the difference in the healthy behaviors, defined as the intentions to use and actual use of sunscreens, between those who *felt* (feared) they were at risk and those who *thought* (cognitive beliefs) they were at risk for skin cancer. Feelings were defined as affective likelihood, worry, and anticipated regret – how they imagined they would feel if they contracted skin cancer due to their risky behaviors (affective risk beliefs). Janssen et al. (2014) found that among the 436 respondents surveyed about their sunscreen intentions and use, there was a positive correlation between reported *feelings* regarding being at risk for skin cancer and actual sunscreen use. Alternatively, respondents who had higher *cognitive* beliefs in their cancer risks evinced more intentionality to use sunscreen rather than actually used sunscreen. Jansen et al. (2014) concluded that people are motivated to act in healthy ways because of their feelings, their fears, and not their rational thoughts regarding their actual skin cancer risks and that this information is useful for cancer intervention programs. The conclusion that people do not always act rationally underscores the need to educate people to protect themselves from skin cancer (Diao & Lee, 2013; Kivineimi & Ellis, 2014; Mahler, 2015).

Heckman et al. (2012) surveyed 509 female undergraduate students, 18-25 years old, to examine the relationship between attitudes regarding tanning, sunburns, and skin cancer and using sunscreen and protective clothing. The females were classified in terms of the self-reported color of their skin, the range going from very fair to very dark. One of the results was that those with fair skin were more likely to report having sunburns, having a greater appreciation of being tan (appearance enhancement), having lower feelings of control with regard to skin protection, and more frequent sunscreen use. Contradictions were apparent in fair skinned women who were more likely to contract skin cancer: they did not limit their sunbathing but did use sunscreen.

A study by Bagatti, Englert, and Cline (2016) indicated the possibility that warnings that targeted women's lack of education about skin cancer can affect their attitudes and behavior regarding melanoma. Bagatti et al. theorized that women would change their behavior if they knew about skin cancer risks. They disseminated information about melanoma to a convenience sample of 72 college athletes and then tested them six months later regarding their knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. Bagatti et al. found that the women exhibited significant improvement in attitudes about, and knowledge of skin cancer as well as healthy skin care behaviors (see Kunin-Batson, Steele, Mertens, & Neglia, 2015; Taber & Aspinwall, 2015; Rat et al., 2014). The research underscores the effectiveness of informed preventive programs (Tripp et al, 2016). The American Cancer Society (2016d) is in accord and has stated that skin cancer can be significantly reduced through education, lifestyle changes, and early detection. More work needs to be done to develop creative programs because at least one study has determined that protective behaviors have in fact declined: Basch, Basch, Rajan, and Ruggles (2014) studied the skin-protection behaviors of adolescents from 2001 to 2011. They found that the use of sunscreen actually declined, from 67.7% to 56.1 %.

Theory of Health Self-Efficacy

I chose to base the first two research questions on the theory of health selfefficacy. Health self-efficacy is a derivative of the work of Bandura (1977). Bandura theorized the concept of self-efficacy, which is a person's beliefs about achieving a goal, is based largely upon the *belief* that they have the capability to do so. Goal-setting, motivation, and self-management are elements of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977). Self-
efficacy is a derivative of Bandura's social cognitive theory. Social cognitive theory (SCT), originally called social learning theory, refers to the idea that people learn from observing others' behaviors and the consequent rewards or punishments. SCT relates to self-efficacy because it is understood that people often base their beliefs of self-efficacy on their perceptions of others being successful in achieving their goals (Bandura & National Institute of Mental Health, 1986). Self-efficacy is understood as affecting how people approach life's challenges such that people with a high sense of self-efficacy tend to be optimistic about their abilities and will more readily take on and succeed at tasks and not seek to avoid them whereas low self-efficacy leads to more limited goals and less success (Bandura, 1977; Luszcynska & Schwarzer, 2005). Self-efficacy is an explanation of people's behavior in a variety of situations including: academia, wherein self-efficacy relates to people's academic performance (Jimenez, 2006); social self-efficacy, which relates to people's pro-social behaviors (Grieve, Witteveen, Tolan, & Jacobson, 2014); and technical self-efficacy, which regards people's learning computer programming (Brauner, Leonhardt, Ziefle, & Schroeder, 2010).

Health self-efficacy, which is self-efficacy relating to health self-care, is germane to the current study because it concerns a person's belief that he or she has the ability to avoid skin cancer through specific protective behaviors (Bandura & National Institute of Mental Health, 1986). According to Conner and Norman (2005) health self-efficacy concerns people's beliefs in personal power as it relates to their health decisions including disease prevention and management, and health goals (Chen & Lin, 2010; Ronzio & Ronzio, 2012). It explains people's health choices, how optimistic they feel about achieving their goals, and how likely they believe they can overcome barriers to success (Luszcynska & Schwarzer, 2005). Health self-efficacy has been instrumental in explaining people's attitudes and behaviors regarding various health issues, for example dental hygiene, nutrition, seat belt use, and cigarette smoking cessation (Conner & Norman, 2005). Luszcynska and Schwarzer (2005) concluded that a person's level of success in self-care could be predicted based upon his or her level of health self-efficacy.

For over half a century, research has consistently indicated that how people perceive their abilities to control their medical issues predicts their actual health behaviors. People's protective behaviors regarding skin cancer have been explained by the theory of health self-efficacy (Robinson et al., 2004). Kamimura et al. (2015) surveyed 551 low-income and uninsured patients in a primary care clinic in Utah to determine their skin cancer attitudes and protective behaviors. Kamimura et al. (2015) hypothesized that the three predictor variables of self-efficacy, perceived susceptibility, and skin cancer awareness could be correlated with skin cancer protective behaviors. A HINTS survey was the source of the data and included information about the sample's use of sunscreen, use of protective clothing (long pants, hat, and long-sleeve shirt), and avoidance of excessive sun exposure by staying in shade. Kamimura et al. (2015) found that self-efficacy and skin cancer awareness were predictors of skin cancer protective behaviors. Sunscreens were found to be used the least and Kamimura et al. (2015) speculated that this may be because they are expensive compared to wearing long-sleeve shirts and pants.

Protective Behaviors (Dependent Variables)

The first two research questions regard the influence of feelings of health selfefficacy on two dependent variables, the use of sunscreen and tanning behavior. Because indoor tanning devices are considered carcinogenic, the avoidance of their use is considered as skin cancer protective behavior (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016c; Diao & Lee, 2014).

Sunscreens

Sunscreens are available as topical lotions, gels, and sprays and are placed on a person's body to prevent UV rays from reaching and possibly damaging the skin (Cancer Research, UK, 2016). They are also known by other names such as block out, sun cream, and sunblock (Cancer Research, UK, 2016). Sunscreens come in varying levels of protection from UV radiation, some for just UVA rays and some for both UVA and UVB rays, known as broad-spectrum sunscreens (American Cancer Society, 2016d). The American Academy of Dermatology (2016) suggests that the best sunscreen is a broad-spectrum (UVA and UVB) waterproof sunscreen with a Sun Protection Factor (SPF) of 30 or greater. One must use sunscreens according to the directions on the packaging and apply them generously and frequently. While in at least one study, sunscreens have been shown to be effective in reducing the incidence of melanoma, they are by no means 100% effective (Cancer Research, UK, 2016; Green, Williams, Logan, & Strutton, 2011). The American Cancer Society (2016d) stated that is a mistake to think that the use of sunscreens permits one to have unlimited sun exposure; excessive sunbathing and

sunburns have been seen in those who use SPF sunscreens (Autier, Boniol, & Jean-Francois, 2007).

People consider sunscreens affordable (only one study of uninsured, clinic patients indicated that people limited their use of sunscreen because it was too expensive [Kamimura et al., 2015]). Sunscreens can range in price from \$0.63 per ounce for Wal-Mart's Equate Ultra Protection SPF 50 ("Consumer Reports Best Buy") to \$5.52 per ounce for Badger Unscented SPF 34 lotion (Jaslow, 2013). Some sunscreen labels exaggerate their potency (Jaslow, 2013). In June 2013, the U. S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) issued regulations that required sunscreen manufacturers to be more honest about SPF protection claims (Jaslow, 2013).

The National Cancer Institute 2000-2010 survey data indicated that 13% of men and 33% of women 18-24 years of age used sunscreen and 21.8% of men and 42.1% of women over 25 used sunscreen (National Cancer Institute, 2010). He (2014) used HINTS 2012 survey data to examine the use of sunscreen as it related to the respondents' health self-efficacy and locus of control. He (2014) found that individuals with a high external sense of locus of control (relatively little self-control and personal responsibility beliefs) were less likely to use sunscreen and individuals with high beliefs of health self-efficacy were more likely to use sunscreen. These findings with regard to self-efficacy were consistent with studies by both Pertl et al. (2010) and Heckman et al. (2012). He (2014) also found that there are two widely-held, erroneous beliefs: (a) that skin cancer is primarily inherited, and (b) that therefore it is futile to use sunscreen or avoid excessive sun exposure, an attitude that is a form of fatalism (Espinosa de Los Monteros & Gallo, 2011). He's (2014) study was similar to the current study; however, I could only find it published as an abbreviated Abstract that was presented at a conference, the focus was the general population, not on young adult women, and only sunscreen use was examined.

Pertl et al. (2010) studied women (n=590) and their beliefs of self-efficacy and controllability (perceived control and locus of control) for predicting sunscreen use. Overall, sunscreen use was found to be very limited. The greater the women's selfefficacy, the more likely they were to report an intentionality to use sunscreen. Pertl et al. (2010) suggested that future research was needed to understand the concepts of selfefficacy and controllability as they affect skin cancer behaviors. Pertl et al.'s (2010) research is dissimilar to the current study because, among other things, the number of women surveyed was far smaller by several thousand.

Indoor Tanning Devices

Indoor tanning devices have become increasingly popular despite they're being carcinogenic (Coups, Geller, & Pagoto, 2016; Waters & Adamson, 2016; Wehner et al., 2012). There are two indoor tanning devices, tanning beds and booths, which are used mainly for cosmetic reasons – to darken one's skin and thus produce a tan that many perceive as youthful and attractive (Noar, Myrick, Morales-Pico, & Thomas, 2014). A person lies down in a tanning bed or stands up in a booth for a specified amount of time and he or she uses one device or another during a tanning session. Both devices emit UV radiation said to be similar to sunshine; however, tanning beds and booths release approximately 5-15 times greater UV radiation than the midday, summer sun (Balk &

Geller, 2008; Berwick, 2008). Due to changes in tanning bed and booth equipment over the past years, it is difficult to accurately quantify and thus regulate the spectral output of these devices (Balk & Geller, 2008; Berwick, 2008). UV exposure is much greater with indoor tanning device use because over 95-100% of the body is exposed versus only 15-50% of the body when one is outdoors (Berwick, 2008).

Manufacturers, tanning salon owners, and some medical providers promote indoor tanning devices for health and fitness and claim they are at least as safe as sunshine (Berwick, 2008; Schulman & Fisher, 2009). Two assertions, not empirically proven, are that tanning beds and booths increase a person's vitamin D production and can be a treatment for seasonal affective disorder or SAD (Berwick, 2008; Saeed & Bruce, 1998; Tangpricha et al., 2004; Woo & Edie, 2010). However, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2016c) have declared that indoor tanning devices are carcinogenic. The World Health Organization (WHO), International Agency for Research on Cancer, reported that tanning devices are "carcinogenic to humans" and placed them in its highest cancer risk category, Class 1 (El Ghissassi et al., 2009). Waters & Adamson (2016) determined as a result of their study of cancer caused by tanning device use that approximately 9,000 melanomas and more than 255,000 non-melanoma skin cancers were attributable to indoor tanning devices. Indoor tanning has become an epidemic among teenage girls and young adult women in the last 20 years because it has been estimated that 10% of skin cancer cases are caused by tanning booths and beds (Coups, Geller, & Pagoto, 2016; Waters & Adamson, 2016; Wehner et al., 2014). Estimates for the increased likelihood of contracting non-melanoma skin cancer by using indoor

tanning devices range from 29-67% and for melanoma by 20% (Boniol, Autier, Boyle, & Gandini, 2012; Wehner et al., 2012). Lazovich et al. (2016) determined that indoor tanning devices caused a six-fold increase in melanoma for women younger than 30 years of age. Each year, approximately 450,000 cases of skin cancer are diagnosed due to tanning device use; the number of cancer cases as a result of tanning device use is greater than the number of lung cancer cases caused by smoking cigarettes (Wehner et al., 2014). Waters & Adamson (2016) estimate that in the United States, the annual cost of direct medical care for those who develop skin cancer due to indoor tanning device use is \$343.1 million, which represents a cost of \$127.3 billion over their lifetimes.

Tanning beds and booths are very popular: at least 20% of adolescents in the United States have used an indoor tanning device at least once (Dore & Chignol, 2012; Pan & Geller, 2015). In 2004, Wolff System Technology published survey results indicating that in the United States, there are 30 million users (approximately 10% of the entire population): 13% are teenagers, 20.4% are young adults (18-29 years), 13% are adults (30-64 years), and 9.8% are older adults (65+ years). The National Cancer Institute's 2013 survey regarding indoor tanning device use resulted in these statistics: 16.2% of women ages 18-24 years and 5.5% of females over 25 years reported using an indoor tanning device during the previous year; and, 2.3% of males 18-24 years and 1.7% of men older than 25 years used an indoor tanning device within the previous year (National Cancer Institute, 2016b). A study by Knight, Kirincich, Farmer, and Hood (2002) indicated that young women used tanning devices despite knowing of the carcinogenic risks. Some of the reasons behind young adults' use of indoor tanning devices are: the belief that they look more attractive and healthier with a tan, that their friends do it, and that it is okay to get burned in order to achieve a tan (Noar, Myrick, Morales-Pico, & Thomas, 2014; Geller, 2002).

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), and individual states regulate indoor tanning devices. The regulations cover, for instance, the minimum age of the tanner, the manufacture and sale of devices, lamp replacement, and maximum lamp exposure compliance (Mays, Murphy, Bubly, Atkins, & Tercyak, 2016; Pan & Geller, 2015). In fact, 11 states and the District of Columbia have laws which restrict the use of indoor tanning booths and beds to those over 18 years of age (Pan & Geller, 2015). Several states prohibit use by adolescents who are between the age of 14 and 18 unless they have parental consent (Pan & Geller, 2015). Opponents to indoor tanning devices are proposing increasingly restrictive regulations: the banning all indoor tanning device use by minors and regulations similar to those for cigarettes, which are well-known carcinogens (American Cancer Society, 2016e; Mays et al., 2016; Pan & Geller, 2015).

Pertl et al. (2010) conducted a study with regard to the influence of self-efficacy and controllability on the use sunscreen and indoor tanning devices. They found no correlation between the intention to use tanning beds and controllability and suggested peer pressure to look good with a tan was a factor impacting these results.

Noar et al. (2014) examined young adult women's attitudes about indoor tanning device use. They developed their own online survey to interview 706 university women ages 18-25, the Comprehensive Indoor Tanning Expectations (CITE) scale, to understand why they used indoor tanning devices. The results indicated that motivating factors were appearance, perceptions of convenience, mood enhancement, and health improvement. Noar et al. (2014) noted that the results could not be generalized and that a limited amount of literature regarding interventions for tanners is available.

Predictor of Protective Behavior (Independent Variable)

In the current study, the single independent variable (predictor) is health selfefficacy (Berglund, Lytsy, & Westerling, 2014; Kamimura et al., 2015; Wang & Coups, 2010). The proposition is that beliefs of health self-efficacy may predict the dependent variables of the use of sunscreen and the use of indoor tanning devices (the avoidance of which is a skin protective behavior) (see Robinson et al., 2004). I chose this independent variable because, as reflected in the literature, a focus on health self-efficacy as an underlying factor regarding skin cancer attitudes and behaviors may assist in developing skin cancer preventive interventions (see Diao & Lee, 2013; Waters, Muff, & Hamilton, 2014). Mahler (2015) stated that we need to understand the emotions underlying people's risk-taking regarding skin cancer to develop interventions that will encourage behavioral change.

Self-efficacy is the concept used to explain a person's belief that he or she can achieve a particular goal. If one's self-efficacy for weight loss is low, it is less probable that she will be succeed in a weight-loss program (Nahar et al., 2014). The psychological concept of self-efficacy was first theorized by Bandura (1977). Health self-efficacy, a subdivision of the theory of self-efficacy, is valuable as a possible predictor because it may explain, in part, the disparity between people's skin cancer risks and their ambivalence about protecting themselves (Nahar et al., 2014, Pertl et al., 2010). Nahar et al. (2013) conducted a study of sun protective behaviors of 109 landscape workers in North Mississippi. These workers were chosen as representatives of millions of U.S. workers, who as a result of working outdoors, are exposed to high levels of UV radiation. Nahar et al. (2013) concluded that the workers used sunscreen when they perceived the benefits as outweighing the barriers. Nahar et al. (2013) determined that the workers' beliefs in self-efficacy was an important factor in predicting sun protective behaviors. The results of this study contribute to knowledge about skin cancer protective behaviors for outdoor workers who are especially vulnerable.

The above studies highlight people's ambivalence regarding skin cancer. The purpose of previous studies and the current study is the same: to acquire information that will lead to education programs and that will ultimately reduce the incidence of skin cancer. The current study examined women's beliefs in health self-efficacy and how these beliefs may predict their sun-safe behaviors with regard to skin cancer. The goal is to use the results and conclusions to inform skin cancer educational programs designed to assist the public in understanding the risks of skin cancer and what they can do to prevent it (Volkov, Dobbinson, Wakefield, & Slevin, 2013).

The third research question in the current study addressed whether there are trends in skin cancer protective behaviors as reported by women in the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS 4 surveys (Basch, Basch, Rajan, & Ruggles, 2014). Just their behaviors were examined; health self-efficacy as an independent variable was not considered.

Summary and Conclusions

In summary, the major themes in the literature are that (a) there is a phenomenon that exists whereby people do not always act in their best interests to prevent skin cancer; (b) underlying attitudes and behaviors can be studied to shed light on what predicts people behaving in risky or reasonable ways regarding skin cancer; (c) health selfefficacy has been shown to be a possible motivating factor; and (d) various methods and theoretical frameworks have been used by researchers to examine these motivating factors. I found no study that did not suggest that further research was needed to help in our understanding the dynamics of people's contradictory attitudes and behavior.

While there is literature which addresses the role of people's beliefs and attitudes regarding skin cancer, there is a need for a broad-based study focusing on women, ages 18-34, who are particularly vulnerable, and how their unique beliefs and attitudes, including the need to look attractive with a tan, impact their proactive health behaviors (Ch'ng & Glendon, 2013; Heckman et al., 2012). The results of the first two research questions in the current study may lead to a better understanding of women's underlying motivations regarding self-care. The results may not only help individuals but also inform the medical community as to how best to educate women about ways to avoid skin cancer, possible disfigurement, and even death (see Bagatti, et al., 2016; Cline, 2016; Mahler, 2015).

The third research question was designed to compare the skin cancer protective behaviors as reported by the women in the 2008 HINTS and the 2014 HINTS surveys. The changes may further assist in our determination of the necessity for interventions to prevent skin cancer. For instance, if it is determined that women use less sunscreen in 2014 than in 2008, and given what we know about a U.S. burgeoning skin cancer epidemic, this information could underpin a government-sponsored promotion of sunscreen use (see Volkov, Dobbinson, Wakefield, & Slevin, 2013).

Chapter Three outlines the methodology used in this study: I analyzed the 2014 HINTS national survey data of several thousand women, using a simple linear regression statistical analysis to determine whether there is a correlational relationship between the independent variable (predictor) of health self-efficacy and the dependent variables of sunscreen use and tanning beds and booths. I conducted a MANOVA statistical analysis of the 2008 HINTS and the 2014 HINTS to determine changes, if any, with regard to the protective behaviors of sunscreen use and tanning bed and booth use over the six year period.

Chapter 3: Research Method

At the time of the current study, there had been few studies addressing the possible motivations to use skin cancer protective measures among women ages 18-34. Studies indicated that more research needs to be conducted to understand motivational factors to develop preventive educational programs and save lives (Ch'ng & Glendon, 2013; Heckman et al., 2012). The first two research questions addressed a gap in the literature through analysis of 2014 HINTS survey data on U.S. women ages 18 to 34 to examine possible underlying motivations for engaging in skin protective behaviors. The purpose was to examine the possible effect of health self-efficacy on skin protective behaviors (use of sunscreen and avoidance of indoor tanning devices). Another gap was addressed by the third research question through analysis of possible trends in women's use of sunscreen and tanning beds and booths between the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS survey data. This chapter includes the study's research design and methodology, sampling data and collection and analysis, and ethical considerations.

Research Design and Rationale

I determined that nonexperimental, quantitative methodology was appropriate for the data collection and analysis to answer the three research questions. Archival data were collected from the 2014 Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) 4, Cycle 4 and the 2008 HINTS 3 survey. Quantitative methodology, a deductive approach, was used to test hypotheses related to the research questions. The generalizability of results is limited to U.S. women ages 18-34 in 2008 and 2014 (see Creswell, 2014; Fowler, 2009). According to Creswell (2014), the quantitative method is appropriate to answer research questions that require collection of quantitative data. The purpose of the first two research questions was to determine whether self-efficacy, the independent variable, predicted women's use of sunscreen and avoidance of indoor tanning devices, the dependent variables. Simple linear regression was used to analyze the data.

The third research question addressed possible trends over a 6-year period. The data for women from the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS surveys concerning their skin cancer protective behaviors were compared and contrasted using descriptive statistics, including mean comparisons, frequencies, and standard deviations, to simplify, organize, and summarize the data (see Gravetter & Wallnau, 2009). Additionally, MANOVAs were conducted to determine whether there were statistically significant differences between the sample means of the women's responses over the 6 years (see Basch et al., 2014; Pallant, 2010).

Archival Research Methodology

The current study included archival data from the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS surveys. These data were accessed for free from the HINTS website. HINTS surveys are biennial, cross-sectional surveys of a nationally representative, probability-based sample of U.S. adults (18+ years), which began in 2003 (Cantor et al., 2005). The HINTS surveys were developed by the Health Communication and Informatics Research Branch, Division of Cancer Control and Population Science at the National Cancer Institute. The HINTS focus is cancer and includes questions regarding not only types and incidence of cancer, but also people's attitudes toward the disease and where they obtain medical information. The primary goals for the HINTS are to "(a) encourage programmatic and interdisciplinary approaches to cancer communication research, and (b) to accelerate development of innovative health communication models, theories, and research strategies in cancer prevention, control, and care" (Cantor et al., 2005, p. 1-1). The HINTS questions were developed by NCI experts and consultants with a focus on being easily understood and completed in the least amount of time (Cantor et al., 2005). The questions were taken from many sources including cancer research data and literature reviews, existing questionnaires, cognitive testing results, and timing data (Cantor et al., 2005).

The HINTS survey data were chosen for the three research questions in the current study because of the extensive U.S. population surveyed and the fact that the survey had been rigorously developed for high levels of reliability and validity (Finney Rutten et al., 2012). Regarding the trends aspect of this study, HINTS surveys were specifically designed to "enable researchers to track changes in cognitive and behavioral outcomes" (Cantor, et al., 2005, p. 2-1). The use of HINTS data is practical and economical because the data are free and readily available online. The only condition to using the HINTS data is that a researcher has to agree to the HINTS data terms of use.

Participants

The NCI published online information for the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS surveys, including the total number of respondents for each iteration. The data set for the 2014 HINTS survey included 3,677 respondents; the 2008 HINTS survey included 3,582 respondents (Cantor et al., 2005; NCI, 2015). The total number of women ages 18-34 was 731 for 2008 and 323 for 2014. The rationale for examining this cohort was that young adult women are highly vulnerable to skin cancer and are known to participate, in proportionally large numbers, in excessive sun tanning, particularly indoor tanning device use (American Cancer Society, 2016a; North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, 2016).

Power Analysis

To determine a minimum sample size for this study, I conducted an *a priori* power analysis. The online statistical program G*Power was used for this power analysis with one predictor (alpha = .05, power = .80, and medium effect size f^2 = .15) (Faul et al., 2009). The minimum sample size to satisfy power criteria for the three research questions was 100 respondents.

Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

To maintain sufficient response rates since 2003, NCI and HINTS incorporated new modes of data collection into the original methodology regarding contacting and interviewing participants, acknowledging the impact of new modes of communication including the Internet and mobile phones (Cantor et al., 2005). After extensive research and several pilot studies, NCI and HINTS determined that a "mixed-mode" survey methodology was the most effective. Internet questionnaires alone were unworkable because of the inherent biases and errors, e.g., a "digital divide" exists wherein only better educated and wealthier participants have greater access to the internet. For the 2008 HINTS, again after extensive research and pilot studies and a limited response rate, internet contact was eliminated altogether. Respondents were thereafter contacted only by telephone and mail; this is known as a dual-frame survey design as described below (Cantor et al., 2005; Cantor et al., 2009). The 2014 HINTS survey was conducted by mail only, again to increase response rates. For all surveys, Spanish speaking interviewers and Spanish language questionnaires were used when necessary (Cantor et al., 2009; NCI, 2015). The goal for both the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS surveys was to obtain 3,500 completed questionnaires (Cantor et al., 2009; NCI, 2015).

2008 HINTS

The population NCI surveyed was considered single-stage whereby the NCI targeted and contacted the sample respondents directly, by mail and telephone – a dual-frame design (Cantor et al., 2009; see Creswell, 2014). The sample was randomly chosen and was probability based, meaning that each respondent had an equal opportunity to be chosen (see Creswell, 2014). The first frame was the use of telephones to contact the participants and the second frame involved contacting the respondents by mail. These two modes were chosen to enhance the response rates, especially for those who only have unlisted mobile phones and could only be reached by mail. The mail mode was designed to maximize responses and minimize nonresponse bias.

For the telephone contact, the first frame, the respondents were chosen using listassisted, random digit dialing (RDD). The Computer Assisted Telephone Interview (CATI) format was used for the telephone interviews, with trained interviewers asking the questions. The telephone numbers were randomly chosen from "working banks" which are lists of 100 telephone numbers in specific area code exchanges. Out of a total number of 88,530 telephone numbers, after excluding business numbers and nonworking numbers, and matching them with addresses, the final subsample was a total of 80,231 telephone numbers (Cantor et al., 2009). NCI sent a letter to the sample residents prior to the telephone contact, to apprise the household that an interviewer would be calling them. This mailing included a \$2.00 incentive (Cantor et al., 2009). NCI wanted to achieve 3,500 completed responses; it obtained 3,767 completed interviews and 325 partially completed interviews for a total of 4,092. The response rate after NCI computations for standardization according to The American Association for Public Opinion Research (AAPOR) was 42.37%.

For the second frame, the mail contact, NCI randomly chose the respondents using addresses obtained from the U. S. Postal Service administrative records (Cantor, et al., 2009). A week after the advance letter describing the survey was sent, NCI sent a the survey package (with a \$2.00 incentive), which included several questionnaires to be completed by all household adults. Two weeks later, NCI sent a postcard reminder to homes from which a completed survey had not been received. If there were still no response, NCI sent a second set of questionnaires by FedEx. A total of 7,851 homes were contacted; data were collected from 3,582 respondents (Cantor et al., 2009). The overall response rate was calculated as 30.99% (Cantor et al., 2009).

2014 HINTS

By 2014, NCI had determined that only mailed questionnaires, including a \$2.00 incentive, was the best way to obtain participation (NCI, 2015). They used a two-stage design: in the first stage, a stratified sample of addresses was chosen from a list of residential addresses; in the second stage, one adult was selected from within each

residence, in contrast to the 2008 HINTS wherein several adults in the household were included in the sample. The same sampling frame from the U. S. Postal Service as the 2008 HINTS was used (NCI, 2015). The final sample size was 13,996 (NCI, 2015). Complete data were collected from 3,677 respondents. The overall response rate was calculated as 34.62% (NCI, 2015). The mailing protocol included four mailings, the first of which was a cover letter with the questionnaire, \$2.00, and a return envelope, The second mailing was a reminder postcard. The two remaining mailings each contained a cover letter, questionnaire, and return envelope.

Study Variables

I chose the independent variable and the two dependent variables for the first two research questions based upon the questions regarding skin cancer in the 2014 HINTS and the current literature in the field. The independent variable for both research questions was health self-efficacy. It was measured by the women's responses to the health self-efficacy question, "Overall, how confident are you about your ability to take care of yourself?" The responses were measured on a Likert scale, with the response being one of the following: 1. completely confident; 2. very confident; 3. somewhat confident; 4. a little confident; and 5. not confident at all. The dependent variable in the first research question was the use of sunscreen as measured by the women's responses to the question, "When you are outside for more than one hour on a warm, sunny day, how often do you wear sunscreen? The responses were measured on a Likert scale with one response required from the following six choices: Would you say...1. always; 2. often; 3. sometimes; 4. rarely; 5. never; and 6. does not go out on a sunny day.

variable in the second research question was the use of tanning beds and booths as measured by the women's responses to the question, "How many times in the past 12 months have you used a tanning bed or booth?" The Likert scale response was one of the following response options: 1. 0 times; 2. 1-2 times; 3. 3-10 times; 4. 11-24 times; and 5. 25 times or more.

I examined the possible changes in women's skin cancer protective behaviors over a six-year period with the third research question. The data from the 2008 HINTS and the 2014 HINTS surveys were compared (see Basch et al., 2014). Responses were measured by the women's answers to the two questions in the 2008 HINTS survey, "When you go outside during the summer on a warm sunny day, how often do you do each of the following...wear sunscreen?" The Likert scale response was one of the following options: 1. always; 2. often; 3. sometimes; 4. rarely; 5. never; 6. does not go out on a sunny day; and, "How many times in the past 12 months have you...used a tanning bed or booth? The Likert scale response were one of the following options: 1.0 times; 1.1-2 times; 3. 3-10 times; 4. 11-24 times; and 5. 25 times or more. Sunscreen use and tanning bed and booth use questions for the 2014 HINTS survey were measured, using a Likert scale, by answers to the questions, "When you are outside for more than one hour on a warm, sunny day, how often do you wear sunscreen?" One response was required from the six choices: 1. Always; 2. often; 3. sometimes; rarely; never; does not go out on a sunny day; and, "How many times in the past 12 months have you used a tanning bed or booth?" One response was required from the six choices: 1.0 times; 2.1-2 times; 3.3-10 times; 4. 11-24 times; and 25 times or more.

Data Analysis

Preliminary Analyses

The data analysis comprised two phases, preliminary and main. In the preliminary analysis, I determined the means, frequencies, and standard deviations (descriptive statistics) for both the 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS data for the independent variable and the two dependent variables. Further, I checked the data for reasonableness, I cleaned the data as necessary, which included correcting for missing values and responses that were not in the specified range (Pallant, 2010). The SPSS program identified out-of-range or misnumbered responses (Creswell, 2012).

In addition, I calculated the descriptive statistics of the sample of women in the current study for the demographic variables, besides age, of race/ethnicity, socio-economic status (SES), and education. Because these demographic statistics are categorical, only the mode was calculated (Creswell, 2012). Finally, certain assumptions were made and corrected if violated.

Assumptions. Statistical assumptions are important to assess the accuracy of the data analyses and the conclusions therefrom (Field, 2009). Because this study uses secondary data, some of these assumptions have been addressed by the NCI, which developed the HINTS surveys. Generally, the initial assumptions verified for both the linear regression and MANOVA statistical analyses were: sample size, level of measurement, random sampling, independence of observations, normal distribution, and homogeneity of variance (Pallant, 2010). Sample size will be discussed in detail below.

The level of measurement refers to the fact that the dependent variables, sunscreen use and tanning bed and booth use, are measured at the interval level; the concepts are designed to be continuous and not categorical for statistical analyses purposes (Pallant, 2010). A random sampling means that each respondent has an equal chance of being selected (Gravetter & Wallnau, 2009). It is assumed that NCI, the agency that developed the HINTS surveys, chose the participants in a random manner (see discussions above, Archival Research Methodology and Participants). Independence of observations is a concept meaning that individual measurements cannot be influenced by any other. This appears to not be an issue because as reported by the NCI, each survey respondent was interviewed separately and had no information with regard to what any other respondent was reporting (Pallant, 2010). A normal distribution assumption means that it is understood that the population from which the sample is taken is normally distributed. This is also an issue for which reliance must be placed on the NCI. Finally, homogeneity of variance is an assumption that is germane to the t-test analysis for the third research question that requires comparison of two groups. It states that the variances (the mean squared deviation) of the two samples must be similar (Gravetter & Wallanu, 2009; Pallant, 2010). If they are not similar, the SPSS program will automatically perform the Levene's test for equality of variances when it conducts the t-test (Pallant, 2010). If the homogeneity of variance assumption is not satisfied, a different statistical analysis may be required, one that does not require equal variances (Gravetter & Wallanu, 2009).

The next assumptions to be considered were the absence of outliers and the absence of multicollinearity (Field, 2009). First, outliers are very high or very low scores (Pallant, 2010). When found, they can be deleted or given more a score more in line with the remaining scores (Pallant, 2010). Multicollinearity refers to the relationships among the independent variables (Pallant, 2010). Multicollinearity is a highly linear relationship among the independent variables, which means the independent variables correlate too much (Field, 2009). Multicollinearity can be detected using the Variance Inflation Factors (VIF). This analysis, according to Tabachnick & Fidell (2012), can determine how much influence the independent variables have over the dependent variable because of collinearity. If this VIF value is too high, that is over two, then the linear relationships of the independent variables may need adjustments, including perhaps eliminating some of the questions. Violations of the remaining assumptions for simple linear regressions were evaluated and rectified, as necessary: normality, linearity, homoscedasticy, and independence of errors (Field, 2009; Pallant, 2010). A residuals scatterplot or a histogram is used to access the assumptions of normality, linearity, and homoscedasticy, which refer to the relationships among the independent variables and the distribution of the scores (Pallant, 2010). One can see whether the scores are normally distributed (Pallant, 2010; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012). If the assumption of normality is violated, the variable scores will deviate from the normal model so that they are skewed. If a greater number of scores is above the mean this is known as negative skewness, while if a greater number of scores is below the mean, this is positive skewness. A logarithmic transformation can be

used to rectify large deviations from the norm and for small deviations a square root transformation can be applied (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012).

Linearity, which affects the generalizability of the results, is an assumption that suggests that there is a straight-line relationship between the dependent variable and the errors of prediction (Field, 2009). If there is insufficient linearity, it will be obvious in a scatter plot if the scores create a curve rather than a straight line (Pallant, 2010). If nonlinearity exists, a solution would be to add the values of the squares of the independent variables in the regression analysis (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012).

Homoscedasticity is an assumption that the standard deviations of the errors of the normal model and of the actual scores are similar. If this assumption is violated, the study's standard deviation of errors is difficult to assess (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012). In a scatterplot, the scores should show a cigar shape (Pallant, 2010). If the assumption is violated, three different statistical analyses may rectify the situation: transforming the variables, including a variable that is not part of the original model, or conducting a program using weighted least squares regression (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012).

Finally, the independence of errors assumption is when the residuals in a regression are uncorrelated or independent. The residuals are the differences between the values the model predicts and the actual values from the data studied (Field, 2009). If these residual differences are too small, this could mean there is not enough independence that could increase the possibility of committing a Type 1 error (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012). If it is determined that the residuals are too dependent, a Durbin-Watson statistical analysis can be performed (Field, 2009).

Sample size. The final assumption to be considered for both simple linear regression and MANOVA analyses was sample size. The sample size is significant because it relates to the generalizability of the results of the survey data (Pallant, 2010). NCI reported the total number of women, ages 18-34 for the 2008 and 2014 HINTS surveys (NCI, 2015). The number of women in each HINTS survey was determined to be of sufficient size to engender confidence in the current study's statistical analyses and to avoid a mistaken rejection of the null hypothesis, a Type 1 error (Creswell, 2009).

As stated above, in order to determine a minimum, sufficient sample size for this study, an *a priori* power analysis was conducted using the on line G*power program with an anticipated medium effect size of 0.15, a desired statistical power of level of 0.80, and a probability level of 0.05, and one as the number of the predictor variables. I determined that the result was a total minimum number of necessary and sufficient respondents was 100.

Main Analysis

The main statistical analyses for this secondary data was conducted using the IBM Statistical Product and Service Solutions (IBMSPSS) Package 21. The first research question was whether health self-efficacy predicted the use of sunscreen. The hypothesis was that there was no statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS survey question number F2 and the use of sunscreen, as measured by the 2014 HINTS survey question H7. The answer to this first research question was determined using simple linear regression statistical analysis.

The second research question was whether health self-efficacy predicted the use of tanning beds or booths. The hypothesis was that there was no statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS survey question number F2 and the use of tanning beds or booths, as measured by the 2014 HINTS survey question number H6. The answer to this research question was determined using simple linear regression statistical analysis.

The third and final research question was whether there was a mean difference between women's use of sunscreen and tanning beds and booths as indicated in the 2008 and 2014 HINTS research. The hypothesis was that there was no statistically significant difference in skin cancer protective behaviors by women in the 2008 HINTS research and female participants in the 2014 HINTS research, as measured by the 2008 HINTS survey questions numbered G1 and G2 and the 2014 HINTS survey questions numbered H7 and H6. The answer to this research question was determined using a MANOVA statistical analysis.

After the above-mentioned statistical analyses of simple linear regression and MANOVA, and because I examined subpopulations of the two HINTS survey data (women ages 18 to 34), I also used a statistical program WesVar 5.1, to add the jackknife replicate weights used in the original database (NCI, 2014). This is a statistical application that will decrease the possibility of a type 1 error, which is erroneously rejecting the null hypothesis (Pallant, 2010). These statistical analyses were chosen based upon the nature of the research questions and scales, which are interval. There was no need to consider potential covariates and/or confounding variables at this time (Field,

2009). The results were interpreted using the f test and corresponding p values (Field,

2009; Pallant, 2010). Table 1 below is a summation of the data analysis.

Table 1

Data Analysis Summary

RQ	IVs	IVs Level of Measurement	DVs	DVs Level Measurement	Statistical Analysis
RQ1	Health self- efficacy	Continuous	Sunscreen use	Continuous	Simple linear regression
RQ2	Health self- efficacy	Continuous	Tanning Device use	Continuous	Simple linear regression
RQ3	Females (level 1- 2008; level	Categorical	Sunscreen use	Continuous	MANOVA
	2-2014)	Continuous	Tanning Device use	Continuous	MANOVA

 $\overline{Note.}$ RQ = research question; H = hypothesis; IV = independent variable; DV = dependent variable. Levels of measurement are categorical and continuous.

Validity and Reliability

NCI developed the HINTS survey questions by incorporating questions from other national surveys such as the CDC's Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System as well as from smaller, health-related surveys. NCI reviews each biennial HINTS survey and pretests for psychometrical soundness to ensure validity and reliability (Cantor et al., 2005). Each HINTS iteration has a percentage of questions that has been used in the past. For instance, in the 2005 questionnaire, at least 50% of the previous year's (2003 HINTS) questions were carried forward to maintain integrity and continuity and assess trends (Cantor et al., 2005). Specific statistical calculations regarding the reliability and validity of the 2008 and 2014 HINTS can be found at www.hintscancer.gov.

This study was a secondary data analysis of NCI's 2008 HINTS and 2014 HINTS survey data. Since 2003 when the HINTS surveys first began, there have been approximately seven major surveys; tens of thousands of U. S. adult citizens have been interviewed (Rutten et al., 2012). I have confidence regarding the reported validity of the 2008 and 2014 HINTS data because, as recited by Rutten et al. (2012) there have been consistent and rigorous attempts by the NCI to make each survey as valid as possible (see above discussion on Archival Research Methodology and Participants).

Threats to Validity

Validity refers to the idea that the HINTS surveys measure what they are purported to measure (Pallant, 2010). Threats to validity are to be avoided or minimized so that the study results are reliable (Creswell, 2014). The use of survey archival data in the current study means that internal validity threats such as testing, maturation, history and instrumentation are not germane (Creswell, 2014). Notwithstanding, the issues such as sample size, the validity of the questionnaire, and the face validity of the questions remained significant. A threat regarding sample size is the possibility that the sample may be too small to make inferences to larger populations. I determined, having conducted an *a priori* statistical power analysis using the G*power statistical program, that the sample size for the current study was sufficient and reliable.

Additional threats to validity concern what is known as content validity – both face and sampling validity (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Face validity refers to the appropriateness of the questionnaires used (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Do the questions capture the phenomenon studied – in this case, the respondents perceptions of their self-efficacy about health care, and what they do regarding sunscreen use and indoor tanning device user? As stated above, the NCI has, since 2003, pre-tested and reviewed its surveys. It has consulted countless experts and outside agencies to perfect the questions over the years. While Frankfort-Nachmias and Nachmias (2008) state that there is no specific, final test to determine face validity, I determined that the lack of face validity was not a threat. Sampling validity, a type of content validity, concerns whether the questions represent the constructs intended to be measured; if there is no sampling validity, the questionnaire is deemed invalid (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). For example, theoretically many questions could be used to access the construct in the current study of a person's belief in health self-efficacy, the independent variable; however, to use all possible questions is impractical and in fact

only one question was used. I assumed that this question captured the essence of the concept of health self-efficacy.

Statistical conclusion validity can be threatened when the statistics upon which the data results and conclusions are based are not are not adequate in terms of power and statistical assumptions (Creswell, 2014). I resolved these threats by double-checking the assumptions for the pre- and post-analyses. Further, Cronbach alpha values was used to determine reliability and internal consistency of the scales.

Finally, another threat to the validity concerns external validity. External validity threats arise when results are erroneously extrapolated from the sample to others, which is when they are generalized to a greater population (Creswell, 2014; Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). For instance, the results from the current study of women cannot be reasonably inferred to young adult men. To avoid this threat, I did not claim that the results can be generalized to any other population.

Threats to Reliability

Reliability refers to whether (a) there is internal consistency such that responses to constructs within the survey are consistent; (b) the survey results are consistent with prior surveys and the results consistent over time; and (c) there is consistency in interview administration and scoring (Creswell, 2010). As with the issue of validity, I depended upon the NCI's scrutiny of each iteration of the survey since 2003 to obtain the highest levels of reliability (see above discussion on Archival Research Methodology and Participants). An example of the NCI authors' attempts at establishing reliability,

between the 2003 and the 2005 survey, it made certain at least 50% of the questions were identical. Only trained interviewers were used to assure consistency of interview administration (Beckjord et al., 2007; Cantor et al., 2005). For internal consistency, Cronbach's coefficient alpha statistic was used to establish the average correlation of all the items that make up the scale. The resulting values can range from 0 to 1; the higher the value reported, the greater the reliability.

Ethical Research

Ethical rules and regulations are guides to ameliorate the possible harm researchers may perpetrate by violating the rights or welfare of participants (human or animal) while conducting a study (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). The rules and regulations address the researchers' obligations to their subjects including respecting their rights to confidentiality, informed consent, and the right to special consideration if a member of a vulnerable population, such as the elderly (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). There are several main ethical issues which must be addressed to avoid damage.

Confidentiality with regard to the respondents' personal information is crucial and in the current study, this was accomplished by the very first data analysts at NCI for the 2008 and 2014 HINTS by its giving each respondent a number (code) to represent him or her (Cantor, et al., 2005). It is only these codes to which I had access. Informed consent is another important ethical issue because the participant has a fundamental right to know what the study is about and be forewarned regarding what his or her participation entails (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Because archival data was used, I was exempt from the requirement to obtain informed consents from the respondents, according to the American Psychological Association (APA), ethical standard 8.05, part (b). The trained HINTS interviewers obtained the respondents' informed consents and advised them that they could discontinue their participation at any time (Cantor, et al., 2005).

Finally, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Walden University, which is the ethical oversight office, reviewed this study. I made an application to the IRB and it was approved prior to any data retrieval or analyses (IRB No. 09-22-17-0260191).

Summary

This was a quantitative research study using archival data from two national surveys conducted in 2008 and 2014 by the NCI entitled the Health Information National Survey (HINTS). I examined skin cancer protective behaviors of thousands of women, aged 18 to 34. The first two research questions concerned the relationship between the independent variable of health self-efficacy and the dependent variables of skin cancer protective behaviors, the use of sunscreen and the use of tanning beds and booths. These questions were based on the theoretical framework of health self-efficacy, which is a factor underlying people's achieving their health goals. The third research question examined the trends in women's sunscreen and indoor tanning device use over the six year period from 2008 to 2014. Chapter 4 presents the results of this study.

Chapter 4: Results

The first purpose of this quantitative study was to determine whether health selfefficacy predicted sunscreen use and tanning bed and booth use in U.S. women ages 18-34. Findings may be used to create skin cancer prevention educational programs. The second purpose was to assess possible trends in tanning behavior of women ages 18-34 between 2008 and 2014. Findings may add to the body of knowledge concerning women's use of sunscreen and tanning beds and booths and may lead to improved skin cancer prevention programs.

The three research questions and corresponding hypotheses were the following:

RQ1: Does health self-efficacy predict the use of sunscreen?

 H_0 1: There is no statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2 and the use of sunscreen, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H7.

 $H_{a}1$: There is a statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2 and the use of sunscreen, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H7.

RQ2: Does health self-efficacy predict tanning behavior?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2 and the use of tanning beds or booths, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H6.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2 and the use of tanning beds or booths, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H6.

RQ3: Is there a difference between female participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 research and female participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 research in skin cancer protective behaviors including the use of sunscreen and tanning behavior as measured by survey responses regarding their use of sunscreen and tanning behavior?

 H_0 3: There is no statistically significant difference in skin cancer protective behaviors of the use of sunscreen and tanning bed or booth use between female participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 research and female participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 research, as measured by the 2008 HINTS 3, survey questions numbered G1 and G2 and the 2014 HINTS, Cycle 4 survey questions numbered H7 and H6.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant difference in skin cancer protective behaviors of the use of sunscreen and tanning bed or booth use between female participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 research and female participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 research, as measured by the 2008 HINTS 3 survey questions numbered G1 and G2 and the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey questions numbered H7 and H6.

Chapter 4 includes an explanation of the secondary data collection methods, the statistical analyses, the descriptive statistics to describe the demographics for the 2008 and 2014 HINTS data, the frequencies and percentages of 2008 and 2014 sunscreen use

and tanning bed and booth use, the assumptions, and the results of the statistical analyses for the three research questions.

Several changes to the proposed data collection and analysis were made. First, it was necessary to use the SAS statistical program instead of the IBM Statistical Product and Service Solutions (SPSS). Unlike SPSS, SAS has the capability to analyze the jackknife replicate weighting results that must be used to compute HINTS (complex sampling design) data; jackknife replicate weighting means the results can be generalized to all adults throughout the United States (HINTS, 2017; Moser, 2016; R. Moser, personal communication, March 20, 2018). Second, for the three research questions, logistic regression analyses rather than simple linear regression and MANOVA analyses were used because the variables were ordinal (see Pallant, 2010). In the proposal, I used the term *trends* when referencing the third research question. I later determined that the more accurate term was *changes* when comparing in the HINTS data between 2008 and 2014 (vcefurthermaths, 2018). Finally, modes for the descriptive statistics were not calculated. Instead frequencies and percentages were reported.

Results of the HINTS surveys for 2008 and 2014 were used for this study. HINTS are biennial national surveys that have been conducted in the United States since 2003. These surveys focus on people's cancer knowledge and treatments and how they access information about cancer treatments and prevention. The HINTS have a complex survey design that includes a jackknife replicate weighting application that makes generalization of the results to the entire U.S. population of young adult women possible (R. Moser, personal communication, March 30, 2018). This generalization assumption was
applicable to all findings in this study except when data were noted as unweighted. The data are available to the public online at the National Cancer Institute website.

Data Collection

For the 2008 HINTS survey, people across the United States were contacted by telephone and mail to respond to a questionnaire. After Westat, the company affiliated with the National Cancer Institute and HINTS for creating, processing, and analyzing HINTS questionnaires, deleted partially completed interviews and those otherwise considered unusable, there remained a total of 7,674 responses (HINTS, 2017). Although the response rates for the telephone interviews and the mailed interviews were different (24.23% and 30.99%, respectively), the difference in responses by survey mode was not sufficient to warrant use of the results of one mode over the other. Westat combined the results to collect a total of 7,674 responses (HINTS, 2017; Valle et al., 2016). Out of the 7,674 responses in the 2008 HINTS survey, there were 731 female respondents ages 18-34 years. This sample was determined to be a sufficient sample size for this study.

For the 2014 HINTS, after missing, incomplete, and unusable interviews were deleted by Westat, the responses of 3,677 U.S. adults ages 18-65+ were included in the study (HINTS, 2017). The response rate was 34.44%. The total number of women ages 18-34 years was 323, which was a sufficient sample size for this study.

Westat originally removed questionnaires that were unusable and therefore could not be included in the final count (HINTS, 2017). I further screened the 1,054 women's responses (731 for 2008 and 323 for 2014) to assess any missing data germane to the three research questions. Generally, missing data can be corrected by imputing data. Imputation is a complicated statistical correction process sometimes used for large and complex surveys of this type, however it was not used in this study because the SAS statistical program used for the main analyses herein cannot accurately compute the imputations (HINTS, 2017; R. Moser, personal communication, February 1, 2018). Notwithstanding, I determined that the missingness in the samples for the 2008 and 2014 HINTS was at an acceptable level and did not have a detrimental effect in these analyses because relative to the theoretical complete response data of all respondents (100%), the available data I used had only between 1% and 5% of the data missing, see Tables 2, 3, and 4 (K. Ghebrehawariat, personal communication, April 11, 2018; see Pallant, 2010). Table 2

RQ1. Sunscreen Use and Health Self-Efficacy Missing Data Patterns, 2014

				Group Me	ans	
Sunscreen	HSE	Freq	%	Sunscreen	HSE	
Х	Х	307	95.05	3.1661254	2.026059	
Х		4	1.24	4.2500000		
	Х	12	3.72		1.833333	
	Sunscreen X X	SunscreenHSEXXXX	SunscreenHSEFreqXX307X.4.X12	Sunscreen HSE Freq % X X 307 95.05 X . 4 1.24 . X 12 3.72	Sunscreen HSE Freq % Sunscreen X X 307 95.05 3.1661254 X . 4 1.24 4.2500000 . X 12 3.72 .	Sunscreen HSE Freq % Sunscreen HSE X X 307 95.05 3.1661254 2.026059 X . 4 1.24 4.2500000 . . X 12 3.72 . 1.833333

Note. HSE = health self-efficacy. Freq = frequency.

					Group N	1eans	
Group	Tanning	HSE	Freq	<u>%</u>	Tanning	HSE	
1 2	X X	X	307 4	98.71 1.29	0.192182 0	2.026059	

RQ2. Tanning Device Use and Health Self-efficacy Missing Data Patterns, 2014

Note. HSE = health self-efficacy. Freq = frequency.

Table 4

RQ3. Sunscreen Use and Tanning Device Use Missing Data Patterns, 2008 and 2014

					Group Means
<u>Group</u>	Sunscreen	Tanning	Freq	<u>%</u>	Sunscreen Tanning
1	Х	Х	1012	96.02	3.036561 3.725300
2	Х		6	0.57	3.000000 .
3		Х	14	1.33	. 0.285714
4	0	0	22	2.09	

Note. Freq = frequency. X = variable observed in corresponding group; "." or "0" = variable not observed in corresponding group.

I decided to eliminate the last possible response choice to the sunscreen usage question for research questions 1 and 3 because I was interested only in the frequency of sunscreen use; the last possible choice was, "does not go out on a sunny day". Thus the remaining choices were always, often, sometimes, rarely, or never.

I collapsed the response choices to the question regarding the use of tanning beds and booths because there was a quasi-complete separation of data points, which is the result of too many respondents not choosing any of the possible response choices (missing cells), Table 5 (see Field, 2009; Introduction to SAS, 2018). The question asked the respondent to indicate the number of times the respondent used a tanning bed or booth within the past year by choosing one of five choices: zero, 1-2 times, 3-10 times, 11-24 times, and 25 times or more. The zero level was retained and the remaining four were collapsed so that the final analysis was based on two instead of five levels, zero being one group and the other being those who responded they used indoor tanning devices from one time to 25 or more times.

Table 5

Missing Data Patterns, Tanning Bed and Booth Use and Health Self-Efficacy

Tanning Bed	Health Self-efficacy					
		Frequency	Weighted Frequency	Std Error of Wgt Freq	%	Std. Err of %
O times	Completely confident	82	9965138	1257367	29 3668	3 6701
o unico	Very confident	133	12022011	146726	35.4283	4.2356
	Somewhat confident	58	6234123	1113435	18.3716	3.2471
	A little confident	11	870744	354002	2.5660	1.0468
	Not confident at all	2	76394	56545	0.2251	0.1674
Total		286	29168410	1358016	85.9578	3.5613
1 to 2	Completely confident	4	833838	499199	2.4573	1.4737
times	Very confident	7	1149493	816573	3.3875	2.4057
	Somewhat confident	6	1014672	703562	2.9902	2.0721
	A little confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Not confident at all	0	-	-	-	-
	Total	17	2998003	1088481	8.8350	3.1953
3 to 10	Completely confident	1	82455	83510	0.2430	0.2463
times	Very confident	4	355018	227600	1.0462	0.6734
	Somewhat confident	3	434256	249264	1.2797	0.7369
	A little confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Not confident at all	0	-	-	-	-
	Total	8	871729	406243	2.5689	1.2111
11 to 24	Completely confident	2	295369	139711	0.5757	0.4112
times	Very confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Somewhat confident	0	-	-	-	-
	A little confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Not confident at all	0	-	-	-	-
	Total	2	195369	139711	0.5757	0.4112
25 or more	Completely confident	1	107452	109114	0.3167	0.3216
times	Very confident	4	574197	360814	1.6921	1.0624
	Somewhat confident	1	18230	18845	0.0537	0.0555
	A little confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Not confident at all	0	-	-	-	-
	Total	6	11184252	1304782	32.9594	3.8385

Tanning Bed Use and Health Self-Efficacy

Note. Std Err of Wgt Freq = Standard Error of Weighted Frequency. Std Err of % = Standard Error of %.

Finally, the question regarding the variable health self-efficacy for the first two research questions originally had five response choices: completely confident, very confident, somewhat confident, a little confident, and not confident at all. The last three response choices were collapsed because there was a quasi-complete separation of data points, Tables 5 and 6 (see Field, 2009; Introduction to SAS, 2018). The three remaining responses used for the final analyses were: completely confident, very confident, and somewhat confident or less.

Table 6

	Suns	creen Use b	y Health Self-E	fficacy		
Sunscreen U	se Health Self-efficacy	г				
<u></u>	<u></u>	Frequency	Weighted Frequency	Std Error of Wgt Freq	%	Std. Err of %
		82	9965138	1257367	29.3668	3.6701
	Very confident	133	12022011	146726	35.4283	4.2356
	Somewhat confident	58	6234123	1113435	18.3716	3.2471
	A little confident	11	870744	354002	2.5660	1.0468
	Not confident at all	2	76394	56545	0.2251	0.1674
	Total	286	29168410	1358016	85.9578	3.5613
1 to 2	Completely confident	4	833838	499199	2.4573	1.4737
times	Very confident	7	1149493	816573	3.3875	2.4057
	Somewhat confident	6	1014672	703562	2.9902	2.0721
	A little confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Not confident at all	0	-	-	-	-
	Total	17	2998003	1088481	8.8350	3.1953
3 to 10	Completely confident	1	82455	83510	0.2430	0.2463
times	Very confident	4	355018	227600	1.0462	0.6734
	Somewhat confident	3	434256	249264	1.2797	0.7369
	A little confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Not confident at all	0	-	-	-	-
	Total	8	871729	406243	2.5689	1.2111
11 to 24	Completely confident	2	295369	139711	0.5757	0.4112
times	Very confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Somewhat confident	0	-	-	-	-
	A little confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Not confident at all	0	-	-	-	-
	Total	2	195369	139711	0.5757	0.4112
25 or more	Completely confident	1	107452	109114	0.3167	0.3216
times	Very confident	4	574197	360814	1.6921	1.0624
	Somewhat confident	1	18230	18845	0.0537	0.0555
	A little confident	0	-	-	-	-
	Not confident at all	0	-	-	-	-
	Total	6	11184252	1304782	32.9594	3.8385

Missing Data Patterns, Sunscreen Use and Health Self-Efficacy

Note. Std Err of Wgt Freq = Standard Error of Weighted Frequency. Std Err of % = Standard Error of %.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Table 7 details the frequencies and percentages (unweighted) for both 2008 and 2014 for Education, Income, and Race/Ethnicity. Highlights from the 2008 data include that a small majority the women had some college, had graduated from college, or had postgraduate experience (57.6%). The most women, 208 (36%) stated that they had attained at least some college level education. A majority was Non-Hispanic White (57.3%); Black or African American and Hispanic women comprised a total of 29.8%. 42.7 % of the women resided in households that represented the sample's income middle third, earning between \$20,000 and \$74,999. The single greatest number of women, 111, reported living in households with an income between \$50,000 and \$74,999 (14.4%).

While the percentages for 2014 were generally similar, overall, to those of 2008, there were some differences. It is noted that with regard to frequencies, there were less than half as many female respondents aged 18 to 34 years in 2014 than in 2008, 731 as compared to 323. In 2014, the women were more educated: 75.1% reported having had some college, were college graduates, or had postgraduate education, indicating a 17.5% increase in six years. Only 3.5% of the women had not graduated from high school as compared to 8.4% in 2008. The race/ethnicity diversity of the cohort is slightly more in 2014 than in 2008: in 2008 37.2% of the respondent women were of various race/ethnicities while 57.3% were Non-Hispanic White; in 2014 the percentages were 41.26% and 56.1% respectively. The 2014 percentages for household income are generally similar to those of 2008: 48.4% of the women reported that their household

income was between \$20,000 and \$74,999, which was in the middle third of the range between \$0 and \$200,000 or more.

Table 7

Demographic	2008	Survey	2014 Survey		
	n	%	n	%	
Education					
Loss than 8 years	19	0.4	1	1	
R through 11 years	10	0.4	1	.4	
12 years or completed high school	125	3.5	11	0	
Post $-$ high school (other than college)	28	<i>J</i> . <i>J</i>	20	63	
Some college	20	36.0	20 80	29.4	
College graduate	194	15.0	106	9.8	
Postgraduate	79	66	60	15.9	
Missing	31	4.3	2	.6	
	731	100.0	323	100.0	
Dece/Ethnicity					
Hisponio	112	16.6	60	15.6	
Non Hispanic White	112	10.0 57.3	177	13.0 56.1	
Non-Hispanic Black or African American	422	13.2	177	15.2	
Other	92 66	7 /	40	10.4	
Missing	39	5.5	5	2.6	
	731	100.0	323	100.0	
Income					
\$0 - 9,999	50	9.5	30	8.8	
\$10,000 - 14,999	57	9.0	30	9.0	
\$15,000 - 19,999	42	4.8	17	8.1	
\$20,000 - 34,999	107	14.3	52	17.9	
\$35,999 - 49,999	92	14.0	49	11.2	
\$50,000 - 74,999	111	14.4	68	19.3	
\$75,000 - 99,999	88	10.1	30	9.7	
\$100,000 - 199,999	91	9.9	34	11.7	
\$200,000 or more	10	.9	2	.4	
Missing	83	13	11	4.1	
	731	100.0	323	100.0	

Frequencies and Percentages for Participants' Demographic Characteristics

The frequencies and percentages of sunscreen use and indoor tanning device use were examined (Tables 8 and 9). The percentage of females who used sunscreen always, often, and rarely decreased from 2008 to 2014. There was an increase in the percentage of females who did not use sunscreen at all from 2008 to 2014 (18%, 24%). Fewer females used tanning beds and booths at all in 2014 than in 2008 (90% vs. 80%) and fewer females reported using tanning beds and booths from one to 25 times or less. Note that the weighted values are a result of Westat's computing jackknife replicate weights to be able to generalize the results of the HINTS' surveys to all U. S. women ages 18-34; unweighted results refer to the actual numbers of females, 18-34 years of age, a total of 1036 females.

Table 8

Frequencies and Percentages of Sunscreen Use, 2008 and 2014

Always		Often		Some	etimes	R	arely	N	Never	
Year	<i>n</i> *	%	п	%	п	%	п	%	n	%
2008	118	17	162	22	173	24	129	18	125	19
2014	38	12	67	21	80	26	53	17	73	24

Sunscreen Use by Year

* Unweighted values; total number for 2008, 703; total number for 2014, 323.

Table 9

Frequencies and Percentages of Tanning Bed and Booth Use, 2008 and 2014

Year	None	;	1-25 times or more				
Year	n*	%	n	%			
2008	567	80	136	20			
2014	290	90	33	10			

Tanning Bed and Booth Use by Year

* Unweighted values; total number for 2008, 703; total number for 2014, 323.

Assumption Testing

There were several assumptions that needed to be assessed and rectified if violated. Outliers are those responses that are inconsistent with most of the responses, those with out-of-range values that could skew the results so that Type I and Type II errors are more likely to be made (Pallant, 2010; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012). I screened the data to determine if there were unusual discrepancies in the responses, including a large portion of the participants not answering a particular question or whether one answer was consistently chosen. It was evident that there were no discrepancies in the responses and therefore no outliers needed to be rectified.

Another initial issue that arose was whether the statistical model chosen, ordinal logistic regression, was the best (also known as goodness-of-fit) for the purposes of determining inferences among the variables in the first two research questions (Field, 2009; Newsom, 2015). For research question 1, to examine whether health self-efficacy

predicted the use of sunscreen, when the SAS ordinal logistic regression was first conducted, I found that the proportional odds assumption was not met due to the relatively small sample size (Institute for Digital Research and Education, 2018). This led to test a different model, a multinomial logistic regression, and the comparison of the Akaike information criterion (AIC) generated by both regression models (Fakherpour, Ghaem, Fattahi, & Zaree, 2018). The AIC criterion numbers are an indication of the degree of model fitness. The multinomial logistic regression model had a lesser AIC so this model was the better fit for the data regarding sunscreen use and was therefore used for both sunscreen questions for research questions 1 and 3 (model fit statistics: the ordinal logistic regression AIC is 99208622 and the multinomial logistic regression AIC is 96780985 [Field, 2009]). For research questions 2 and 3 regarding tanning behavior, having collapsed the tanning bed and booth use responses from five to two (see above), I determined that a logistic regression analysis was the best statistical model to use (Field, 2009). Table 10 represents an overall measure of the statistical models' best fit (Newsom, 2015). These statistical results confirmed the use of the logistic regressions detailed above and will be more fully examined for each research question below.

Table 10

Global Tests Table (Likelihood Ratios), RQ1, RQ2, RQ3

Test]			
	F Value	Num DF	Den DF	Pr>F
RQ1. HSE and sunscreen use	3.49	6.20	304.02	0.00
RQ2. HSE and tanning behavior	.64	1.83	89.52	.52
RQ3. Sunscreen use 2008 and 2014	2.23	3.38	165.71	0.07
RQ3. Tanning behavior 2008 and 2014	10.88	1.00	49.00	0.09

Global Tests

Note. HSE = health self-efficacy.

Remaining assumptions for both logistic regression and multinomial logistic regression analyses that required examination were: (a) the assumption that there be a linear relationship between the independent variables and the dependent variables is implicit when using categorical variables and non-parametric statistical analyses (Laerd, 2018); (b) the assumption of independence of observations was not violated because each female respondent had no contact with any other respondent (Laerd, 2018; Pallant, 2010); (c) multicollinearity, which is when two or more of the independent variables are highly related to each other, was not violated because there was only one independent variable for each research question (Laerd, 2018; Pallant, 2010); and (d) the dependent variable is

measured at the ordinal level and the independent variable is considered continuous (Laerd, 2018; Pallant, 2010).

Main Analysis

Research Question 1

Does health self-efficacy predict the use of sunscreen?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2 and the use of sunscreen, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H7.

 H_a1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2 and the use of sunscreen, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H7.

I conducted a multinomial logistic regression statistical analysis to determine whether beliefs of health self-efficacy were predictive of the likelihood of sunscreen use. Health self-efficacy was the independent variable and sunscreen use was the dependent variable. The Likelihood Ratio statistics in Table 10 indicated that there is a statistically significant association between health self-efficacy and sunscreen use, F (6.2, 304.02) = 3.49, p < 0.01 (Field, 2009). As detailed in Table 11 only one level of the independent variable, completely confident, made a statistically significant impact on sunscreen use with an odds ratio of .23. Because the odds ratio is less than 1, the results mean that females with high self-efficacy scores were .23 times less likely to report they used sunscreen rarely compared to those who were somewhat or less confident with their health self-efficacy. In other words, it is more likely that a female who categorizes herself as being somewhat or less confident in health self-efficacy would indicate that she rarely used sunscreen as compared to one who was completely confident in her health selfefficacy (see Laerd Statistics, 2018; see Pallant, 2010).

Table 11

RQ1: Multinomial Logistic Regression; Health self-Efficacy and Sunscreen Use, 2014

						Suns	creen U	Jse						
	Never		Always			Often		S	Sometime	8		Rarely		
	Ref	OR	95% CI	р	OR	95% CI	р	OR	95% CI	р	OR	95% CI	p	
Health Self- efficacy														
Somewhat confident or less	-	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Very confident	-	.96	[.20, 4.69]	.36	.40	[.10, 1.72]	.23	1.10	[.30, 4.07]	.95	1.26	[.26, 6.17]	.12	
Completely confident	/ -	3.08	[.47, 20.4]	.16	.73	[.18, 3.04]	.81	1.14	[.32, 4.11]	.86	.23	[.04, 1.23]	.02	

Note. Ref = Reference categories: somewhat confident or less health self-efficacy; sunscreen use = never. OR = odds ratio. CI = Confidence interval; p < 0.05.

Research Question 2

Does health self-efficacy predict tanning behavior?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy,

as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2 and the use of

tanning beds or booths, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question

number H6.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between health self-efficacy, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number F2 and the use of tanning beds or booths, as measured by the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey question number H6.

I conducted a logistic regression statistical analysis to assess whether the independent variable of health self-efficacy predicted the categorical dependent variable of the use of tanning beds and booths. Table 10 (Likelihood Ratio) indicated that there is no statistically significant association between health self-efficacy and tanning behavior, F(1.82, 89.52) = 64, p > 0.05. Table 12 details the results of the analysis and indicated that health self-efficacy does not predict the use of tanning beds and booths.

Table 12

RQ2: Logistic Regression; Health Self-Efficacy and Tanning Bed and Booth Use, 2014

	None	1	-25 times or more	
Variable	Ref	OR	95% CI	р
Health Self- efficacy				
Somewhat confident or less	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref
Very confident	-	1.18	[.28, 4.97]	.87
Completely confident	-	1.67	[.30, 9.28]	.54

Tanning Bed and Booth Use

Note. Ref = Reference categories: somewhat confident or less health self-efficacy; tanning bed and booth use = none. OR = odds ratio. CI = Confidence interval. p < 0.05.

Research Question 3

Is there a difference between women participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 survey and women participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey regarding skin cancer protective behaviors including the use of sunscreen and tanning behavior as measured by survey responses regarding their use of sunscreen and tanning behavior?

 H_0 3: There is no statistically significant difference in skin cancer protective behaviors of the use of sunscreen and tanning bed or booth use between women participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 survey and women participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey, as measured by the 2008 HINTS 3 survey questions G1 and G2 and the 2014 HINTS, Cycle 4 survey questions H7 and H6.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant difference in skin cancer protective behaviors of the use of sunscreen and tanning bed or booth use between women participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 survey and women participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey, as measured by the 2008 HINTS 3 survey questions G1 and G2 and the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey questions H7 and H6.

As stated above, it was determined that multinomial logistic regression and logistic regression analyses were the best fit models to predict the changes in sunscreen use and tanning bed and booth use between 2008 and 2014 (see Pallant, 2010). A multinomial logistic regression was conducted to examine how well the predictor (independent) variables of the years 2008 and 2014, predicted the categorical dependent variable of sunscreen use. Table 10 (Likelihood Ratio) indicated that there is no statistically significant change in the use of sunscreen in 2008 and 2014, F(3.38, 165.71)

= 2.23, p < 0.05. Table 13 shows the details of the multinomial regression analysis that I conducted to examine whether there was a statistically significant change in the use of sunscreen between the years of 2008 and 2014. There was no statistically significant difference in sunscreen use by year.

Table 13

RQ3. Multinomial Logistic Regression; Sunscreen Use 2008 and 2014

	Never	Always		C	Often		S	ometin	nes	Rarely			
	Ref	OR	95% CI	p	OR	95% CI	p	OR	95% C	I p	OR	95% CI	p
Year													
2008	-	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref
2014	-	.60	[.23, 1.46]	.24	1.06	[.54, 2.08]	.09	1.06	[.60, 1.7]	.98	.75	[.43, 1.33]	.32

Sunscreen Use

Note. Ref = Reference categories: year = 2008; sunscreen use = never. OR = odds ratio. CI = Confidence interval. p < 0.05.

I conducted a logistic regression to examine how well the independent) variables, the years 2008 and 2014, predicted the categorical dependent variable of tanning bed and booth use. Table 10 provided the details for the Likelihood Ratio, F (1.00, 49.00) = 10.88, p < 0.05 and evinced the lack of a statistically significant difference in indoor tanning device use in the two years. Table 14 shows the results of the logistic regression that I conducted to assess whether there was a statistically significant change in the use of tanning beds and booths between the years 2008 and 2014. There was no statistically significant difference in the use of tanning beds and booths by year.

Table 14

RQ3. Logistic Regression; Tanning Bed and Booth Use 2008 and 2014

	None		1-25 times or more		
	Ref	OR	95% CI	р	
Year					
2008	-	Ref	Ref	Ref	
2014	-	0.57	[0.29,1.10]	0.09	

Tanning Bed and Booth Use

Note. Ref = Reference categories: year = 2008; tanning bed and booth use = none. OR = odds ratio. CI = Confidence interval. p < 0.05.

Summary

The results of the statistical analysis of the multinomial logistic regression for the first research question indicated that high levels of the predictor variable health selfefficacy predicted the categorical dependent variable of sunscreen use among women aged 18-34 years of age. The results for research question 2 indicated that the predictor variable of health self-efficacy did not predict the dependent variable of the use of tanning beds and booths. Further, the results of the statistical analyses I conducted for the third research question revealed that there was no statistically significant difference in the proportion of females who used sunscreen in 2008 compared to 2014 and there was no statistical statistical analyses and booths in 2008 compared to 2014. Finally, for the actual females in this study (703 in 2008 and 323 in 2014), the percentage usage of sunscreens generally decreased between 2008 and 2014. The tanning bed and booth use frequencies and percentages indicated that generally the females in this study used indoor tanning devices more in 2014 than during 2008. In Chapter 5, I discuss the above results, draw conclusions, and summarize the potential use of the results for future research and from a practical point of view.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Approximately 90% of skin cancer cases can be prevented through limiting exposure to UV radiation (Diao & Lee, 20 14; Tripp et al., 2016). Excessive exposure to UV radiation can be avoided by wearing sunscreen and avoiding tanning beds and booths, which are known to cause cancer; however, people frequently do not use sunscreen and patronize indoor tanning device salons (American Cancer Society, 2016e). With the incidence of skin cancer on the rise in the United States, it is important to understand the motivations affecting people's attitudes and behaviors regarding the use of sunscreen and avoidance of tanning beds and booths.

The purpose of the first two research questions was to examine the predictive relationship between health self-efficacy and skin protective behaviors among U.S. women ages 18-34. More specifically, I examined whether women's health self-efficacy predicted their use of sunscreen and avoidance of tanning beds and booths, both of which are commonly known as skin protective behaviors. The third research question addressed the changes in sunscreen use and tanning bed and booth use among women ages 18-34 years between 2008 and 2014. Findings may be used to develop medical and educational skin cancer prevention interventions. If findings indicated that sunscreen use had significantly increased between 2008 and 2014, this result would be an incentive to explore why the incidence of skin cancer continues to escalate.

At the time of the study, there were no known studies that addressed these variables with weighted results representing U.S. women ages 18-34. Findings may be used to develop medical and educational skin cancer prevention interventions. If findings

indicated that sunscreen use had significantly increased between 2008 and 2014, these results would be an incentive to explore why the incidence of skin cancer continues to escalate.

At the time of this study, there were no known studies that addressed these variables with weighted results representing U. S. women ages 18-34. The results may lead to better skin cancer preventive interventions including the promotion of sunscreen use and the dissemination of information regarding the carcinogenic nature of tanning beds and booths.

Secondary data were collected from the HINTS surveys for the years 2008 and 2014. Although each HINTS survey included thousands of randomly chosen U.S. adults, the focus of this study was women respondents between the ages of 18 and 34 because they are at a proportionately higher risk for developing skin cancer. Because the 2008 and 2014 HINTS surveys have a complex survey design, the current study's weighted results can be generalized to all U.S. women in the specified age group. The SAS statistical program was used for the data analyses to answer the three research questions:

RQ1: Does health self-efficacy predict the use of sunscreen?

RQ2: Does health self-efficacy predict tanning behavior?

RQ3: Is there a difference between women participants in the 2008 HINTS 3 survey and women participants in the 2014 HINTS 4, Cycle 4 survey regarding skin cancer protective behaviors including the use of sunscreen and tanning behavior as measured by survey responses regarding their use of sunscreen and tanning behavior? The results of the statistical analyses indicated that high scores on health selfefficacy were a significant predictor of sunscreen use, but health self-efficacy was not a predictor of indoor tanning device use. Regarding the third research question, changes in sunscreen use and tanning behavior between 2008 and 2014 were not statistically significant. The findings also revealed that a greater percentage of the women surveyed used sunscreen less in 2014 than in 2008 and used tanning beds and booths more in 2014 than in 2008. In Chapter 5, I interpret these results and describe the limitations of the study. I also address implications for social change and recommendations for future research.

Interpretation of the Findings

Health Self-Efficacy as a Predictor of Skin Protective Behavior

The purpose of the first research question was to determine whether women's health self-efficacy predicted their use of sunscreen to protect against skin cancer. The health self-efficacy survey question asked the women to rate their ability to take good care of their health. The response choices ranged from completely confident to somewhat confident or less. The sunscreen question asked respondents to state how often they used sunscreen and the response choices ranged from always to never.

The results indicated that health self-efficacy (people's belief in their ability to control their health and achieve health goals [Conner & Norman, 2005]) predicted sunscreen use: women who stated they were completely confident about their health self-efficacy were less likely to have rarely used sunscreen compared to those who felt somewhat or less confident about their health self-efficacy. The more confidence women

had in their health self-efficacy, the more likely they were to use sunscreen. These results suggest that health self-efficacy should be considered when creating skin cancer preventive interventions.

The results were consistent with those from previous studies. Health self-efficacy has been determined to be predictive of healthy behaviors generally (Anderson-Bill, Winett, & Wojcik, 2011). Several studies indicated a significant relationship between health-self efficacy and people's sunscreen use. However, these studies were limited by their homogeneous samples and the findings were not generalizable to U.S. women ages 18-34. Kamimura et al. (2015), using HINTS survey data, found that self-efficacy predicted positive skin cancer protective behaviors of the 551 low-income, uninsured patients in a primary care clinic. He (2014), who also used HINTS data, found that people with high self-efficacy were more likely to use sunscreen. Pertl et al. (2010) studied 590 women and determined that those who had a higher sense of self-efficacy were more likely to have the intention to use sunscreen. Finally, Nahar et al. (2013) studied North Mississippi landscape workers and found that their beliefs of self-efficacy predicted their sun protective behaviors.

The second research question was designed to determine whether health selfefficacy predicted indoor tanning device use. The HINTS tanning bed and booth question asked women to explain how often they had used tanning beds and booths in the past year, and the choices ranged from 0 to 25 or more times. The assumption was that a woman's infrequent or nonuse of indoor tanning devices could be interpreted as skin cancer protective behavior; frequent use would signify skin cancer risk behavior. The results indicated that health self-efficacy did not predict women's use of tanning beds and booths with any statistical significance. Health self-efficacy did not appear to play a significant role in the frequency with which women used or did not use indoor tanning devices. These results are consistent with other studies such as the one by Pertl et al. (2010) and Noar et al. (2014). Pertl et al. found that the influence of self-efficacy and controllability was not related to tanning bed and booth use. Noar et al. attempted to understand why females used indoor tanning devices. They surveyed 706 university women ages 18-25 and determined that the reasons for their using tanning beds and booths were their concepts of appearance, mood enhancement, convenience, and health improvement – concepts that perhaps indicate self-doubt rather than strong beliefs of health self-efficacy. Noar et al.'s findings support the results of this study: there was no t relationship between health self-efficacy and tanning bed and booth use.

The theory of health self-efficacy is an attempt to explain people's attitudes and behaviors regarding how they take care of their health (Conner & Norman, 2005). Selfefficacy is the belief in one's ability to conceptualize and achieve a specific goal; health self-efficacy pertains to one's belief that he/she can achieve a particular health goal, for example stop smoking cigarettes within six months (Bandura, 1997; Conner & Norman, 2005). People have disparate levels of health self-efficacy. It has been postulated that a person's level of health self-efficacy may predict his or her success in self-care: high levels of health self-efficacy mean greater success in reaching a health goal (Luszcynska & Schwarzer, 2005). The overall findings of this study with regard to sunscreen use reinforce the correctness of the health self-efficacy theory. The women who felt confident in their ability to care for their health were those who used sunscreen. Regarding indoor tanning device use, the results did not evince any correlation between tanning bed and booth use and women's health self-efficacy. These results may be considered to not repudiate the health self-efficacy theory so much as reinforce the idea that women, ages 18-34 years, do not fully appreciate the skin cancer risks indoor tanning devices pose and therefore do not relate their use or non-use to taking care of their health (Coups, Geller, & Pagoto, 2016; Pertl et al., 2010; Noar et al., 2014).

2008 and 2014 Sunscreen and Tanning Bed and Booth Use

The first part of research question 3 examined whether there was a difference in sunscreen use between the years 2008 and 2014. The same sunscreen question was used as in research question 1. The results indicated that there was no statistically significant difference in the use of sunscreen between these two years. To some extent, I had anticipated that the results would indicate the opposite, that sunscreen was used more frequently in 2014. I thought this because of an assumption regarding the increase in the publics' knowledge about skin cancer prevention due in no small part to manufacturers' proliferate promotional efforts of an ever increasing variety of sunscreens through various media as well as the medical community's increased knowledge about skin cancer causes and prevention (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016b). These results can be interpreted as meaning that despite rigorous efforts to sell sunscreen as being essential to avoid skin cancer, women 18-34 years of age might still not be getting

the message that skin cancer is a very real hazard and protection is imperative. Further, the findings were consistent with the (unweighted) percentages of sunscreen use found in this study (Chapter 4, Table 3): generally, sunscreen was used less in 2014 than in 2008. No interpretations regarding trends with the results of just two years being compared. The possible barriers (and motivating factors such as health self-efficacy) to using sunscreen must be explored in future research as part of an effort to minimize the incidence of skin cancer. For instance, an uncommon theory that has been postulated was that a decline in sunscreen use over the years could indicate that people perhaps believe they are genetically predisposed to get skin cancer and therefore feel it is useless to try to prevent it. This could be happening especially because of all the current information and misinformation about cancer on the internet (Dar-Nimrod, Cheung, Ruby, & Heine, 2014; Waters, Muff, & Hamilton, 2014).

The purpose of the second part of research question 3 was to examine the change, if any, in the use of tanning beds and booths in the years 2008 and 2014. Again, non-use of indoor tanning devices was considered in this study to be a skin protective behavior. The results indicated that there was no significant difference in the use of tanning beds and booths between the two years. It was expected that tanning bed and booth use would have declined based on the assumptions that a greater number of women would have learned about (a) the dangers of skin cancer generally, and (b) the fact that tanning beds and booths cause skin cancer (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016c). These results are not consistent with the (unweighted) percentages of tanning bed and booth use found in this study: the percentage results indicate that in 2014 as compared to 2008 more

women reported they did not use indoor tanning devices at all or used them less frequently. Nevertheless, like sunscreen use as described above, the results beg the question as to why there is not a larger change in women's behavior, especially when it is clear tanning beds and booths are carcinogenic.

Limitations

Several limitations of this study, which are a function of using the HINTS survey data, are important to recognize: a limited number of respondents, self-reporting of respondents, the use of a cross-sectional design, and the constraints regarding the use of the data from the years 2008 and 2014. Generally, while the actual number of women surveyed could be considered a limitation, because the HINTS data in this study was weighted the results can be generalized to the thousands of women 18-34 years of age in the United States. Self-reporting is always suspicious to a degree because it is understood that respondents' answers may not be entirely genuine due to what is known as social desirability bias. A cross-sectional design does not provide the opportunity to compare specific individuals and their changes in attitudes and behaviors across time. The use of the HINTS data for the years 2008 and 2014 was necessary, though it limited the data comparisons to six years. These years were chosen because these survey iterations had identical questions regarding health self-efficacy and the use of sunscreen and tanning beds, a requirement for comparisons.

There are limitations regarding the questionnaires themselves: I was bound by the one, imprecise question regarding health self-efficacy and no questions were asked about the respondents' feelings regarding sunscreen or tanning beds and booths. It is important

to note that the predictive nature of health self-efficacy on both sunscreen use and indoor tanning device use was analyzed without consideration for other variables that may influence behaviors (see Pallant, 2010). Other studies referenced herein considered disparate covariates, for instance the research conducted by Heckmen et al. (2012) wherein women's attitudes and behaviors regarding skin cancer were related to selfreports about the color of their skin. While additional variables can be informative they can also confound. Thus the reason for limiting this study in terms of covariates or mediating variables was an attempt to get a clearer picture, a baseline concept of the effect of health self-efficacy from which further studies could proceed.

Recommendations

Based upon the findings of this study, several possible studies are suggested for future research. It was determined in this study and in previous studies that high beliefs of health self-efficacy are associated with the use of sunscreen. Besides the need to replicate this study to confirm the findings, it would be important to examine more definitively what health self-efficacy means as it relates to skin cancer preventive behaviors because it appears counter-intuitive that sunscreen is not used more. As stated above, a limitation of this study was the single question in the HINTS 2014 questionnaire that asked about self-care generally. A future study could be qualitative and allow women to expand upon their beliefs of health self-efficacy and how these beliefs are related to their use of sunscreen. For instance, three questions could be, "What does health self-efficacy mean to you?", "Do you think your belief in health self-efficacy means using sunscreen?" and, "Does your belief in health self-efficacy include getting sunburned or tan?" Health self-efficacy was not associated with the use of tanning beds and booths. It would have been encouraging to have found that positive health self-efficacy predicted little or no indoor tanning device use because their use is likely to lead to skin cancer. It may very well be that people do not understand how risky it is to use indoor tanning devices and therefore do not relate their use to skin cancer or healthy behavior. A good starting point may be a study that examines what people actually know about tanning beds and booths.

The current study indicated that sunscreen was used proportionately less by female respondents in 2014 than in 2008. Also, when the weighted data was considered, there was no significant difference in sunscreen use between the two years. Future research should include attempts at replicating this study to confirm these results especially since it seems imperative to try to get people to use sunscreen, which is considered a critical part in the fight against skin cancer. Future research should also examine more current data extending over a greater period of time, for instance from 2008 to 2017, and which included enough information to track trends in skin protective behaviors.

There was no statistically significant difference with the weighted data in the use of tanning beds and booths between the years 2008 and 2014. However, the percentage frequencies of the females in this study showed a slight decrease in their use over the same time period. Future studies would be helpful to determine whether there may be a trend toward non-use and why it may be occurring. If, on the other hand, a trend toward increased use became apparent, it would hopefully trigger more governmental intervention to regulate, if not completely close down, the tanning salons; research regarding specific, effective governmental controls and their usefulness would be enlightening. Finally, it would be generally helpful to have a thorough review of the literature world-wide to determine what international programs have been successful in combating skin cancer and which could be adapted for our use in this country.

Implications

Results of this study demonstrate that women's beliefs in health self-efficacy predict sunscreen use but not tanning bed and booth use. These results are confirmed by other studies. It appears, however, that the use of sunscreen remains limited and perhaps on the decline; tanning bed and booth use seems to be declining but not to the extent it should considering its deleterious effects.

Having established that educational programs are effective, the practical implications for social change of this study's identification of the theoretical concept of health self-efficacy as a predictor of sunscreen use are clear: future educational programs created to inform people about skin cancer and its prevention should promote people's self-esteem, and emphasize people's abilities of self-care and the achievement of skin protective goals. Having established that sunscreen use and tanning bed and booth avoidance by females in the United States is not close to optimal, the implications for social change are the inclusion in any educational program designed to prevent skin cancer information about sunscreen benefits and tanning bed and booth dangers. Reducing the incidence of skin cancer will not only save lives and lessen medical treatments generally, it will also reduce the huge financial burdens now placed on local and federal governments for medical interventions not otherwise covered by private health insurance. Hill, Dobbinson, & Makin (2009), based on an economic assessment of the results of a very successful Australian and New Zealand skin cancer prevention campaign, stated that it is apparent that a decrease in skin cancer incidence in young cohorts as a result of skin cancer prevention programs are an eminently worthwhile [national] investment.

Summary

Despite seemingly uncomplicated ways to prevent skin cancer, the incidence of skin cancer is increasing in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016a). One of the reasons given for this anomaly is that people have underlying motivations that influence their attitudes and behaviors about tanning and skin cancer (many feel a tan gives them a healthy and attractive appearance and will risk skin cancer to obtain this look [Dar-Nimrod et al., 2014]). The current study determined that a motivating factor for sunscreen use is health self-efficacy. This information can be used to design skin cancer prevention programs, that for example, reinforce self-care vs. vanity. Sunscreen is an effective means to limit the incidence of skin cancer (Cancer Research, UK, 2016). More sunscreen use, properly applied, means more lives saved and reduced medical costs, for individuals as well as the nation as a whole.

The results regarding health self-efficacy predicting tanning bed and booth use were not significant, and like sunscreen use, no change in indoor tanning device use was found between 2008 and 2014. While more research is needed about the motivating forces that compel people to frequent indoor tanning salons, enough is known about the skin cancer risks, and enough is known about the general ineffectiveness of educational programs, to claim the immediate necessity of making a greater effort to inform the public of their danger. There is no question that less tanning bed and booth use would also save lives and bring national medical costs down.

References

- American Academy of Dermatology. (2016). *Sunscreen FAQS*. Retrieved from https://www.aad.org/media/stats/prevention-and-care/sunscreen-faqs
- American Cancer Society. (2016a). *What are basal and squamous cell skin cancers?* Retrieved from www.cancer.org/cancer/skincancer-basalandsquamouscell/
- American Cancer Society. (2016b). *Key statistics for melanoma skin cancer*. Retrieved from www.cancer.org.cancer.skincare-melanomz/detailed guide
- American Cancer Society. (2016c). *Skin cancer facts*. Retrieved from www.cancer.org/cancer/cancercauses/sunanduvexposure/skin-cancer-facts

American Cancer Society. (2016d). *Skin cancer prevention and early detection*. Retrieved from

http://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancercauses/sunanduvexposure/skincancerpreventi onandearlydetection

- American Cancer Society. (2016e). Just the facts: Indoor tanning. Evaluating the claims of the indoor tanning industry. Retrieved from www.acscan.org/content/wpcontent/uploads/2016
- American Cancer Society. (2016f). *Types of skin cancer*. Retrieved from www.cancer.org/cancer/skincancer-basalandsquamasecell/detailedguide/skincancer
- American Cancer Society. (2017). *Melanoma of the skin*. Retrieved from http://www.cancerstatisticscenter.org

American Psychological Association. (2016). *Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct, standard 8, research and publication, 8.05 part (b)*. Retrieved from www.apa.org/ethics/code/index.aspx

Anand, P., Kunnumakara, A. B., Sundaram, C., Harikumar, K. B., Tharakan, S. T., Lai,...Aggarwal, B. B. (2008). Cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 25(9), 2097-2116. doi:10.1007/s11095-008-9661-9

- Anderson, R. C., & Franke, K. A. (2016). Psychological and psychosocial implications of head and neck cancer. *Internet Journal of Medicine*, 1(2). Retrieved from ispub.com/IJMH/1/2/3169
- Anderson-Bill, E. S., Winett, R. A., & Wojcik. J. R. (2011). Social cognitive determinants of nutrition and physical activity among web-health users enrolling in an online intervention: The influence of social support, self-efficacy, outcomes expectations, and self-regulation. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *13*(1), 147-162. doi:10.2196/jmir.1551
- Austin, L. T., Ahmad, F., McNally, M-J., & Stewart, D. E. (2002). Breast and cervical cancer screening in Hispanic women: A literature review using the health belief model. *Women's Health Issues, 12*(3), 122-128. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12015184
- Autier, P., Boniol, M., & Jean-Francois, D. (2007). Sunscreen use and increased duration of intentional sun exposure: Still a burning issue. *International Journal of Cancer*, *121*(1), 1-5. doi:10.1002/ijc.22745
- Bagatti, M., Englert, N., & Cline, T. (2016). Assessing behavior, knowledge, and attitudes about melanoma: An educational intervention for female college athletes. *Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, *12*(1), 12-18. doi:10.1016/j.nurpra.2015.09.012
- Balk, S. J., & Geller, A. C. (2008). Teenagers and artificial tanning. *Pediatrics*, *121*(5), 1040-1042. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-2256
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychology Review*, 84(2), 191-215.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York, NY: W. H. Freeman & Co.
- Bandura, A., & National Institute of Mental Health. (1986). Prentice-Hall series in social learning theory. Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Basch, C. H., Basch, C. E., Rajan, S., & Ruggles, K. V. (2014). Use of sunscreen and indoor tanning devices among a nationally representative sample of high school students, 2001-2011. *Preventing Chronic Disease, 11,* (E114). doi:10.5888/pcd11.140191
- Beckjord, E. B., Rutten, L. J. F., Squiers, L., Arora, N. K., Volckmann, L., Moser, R. P., & Hesse, B. W. (2007). Use of the internet to communicate with health care providers in the United States: Estimates from the 2003 and 2005 Health Information National Trends Surveys (HINTS). *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 9(3), e20. doi:10.2196/jmir9.3.e20

Berglund, E., Lytsy, P., & Westerling, R. (2014). The influence of locus of control on self-rated health in context of chronic disease: A structural equation modeling approach in a cross sectional study. *BioMed Central Public Health*, 14(492). doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-492

Berneburg, M., Plettenberg, H., Medver-Konig, K., Pfahlberg, A., Gers-Barlaq, H., Gefeller, O., & Krutmann, J. (2004). Induction of photoaging-associated mitochondrial common deletion in vivo in normal human skin. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *122*(5), 1277-1283. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-202x.2004.22502.x

- Berwick, M. (2008). Are tanning beds "safe"? Human studies of melanoma. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Research, 21*(5), 517-519. doi: 10.111/j.1755-148X.2008.00499.x
- Boniol, M., Autier, P., Boyle, P., & Gandini, S. (2012). Cutaneous melanoma attributable to sunbed use: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Medical Journal,* 345. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e4757
- Brauner, P., Leonardt, T., Ziefle, M., & Schroeder, U. (2010). The effect of tangible artifacts, gender and subjective technical competence on teaching programming to seventh graders. Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Informatics in Secondary Schools. LNCS 5941, pp. 61-71. ISSEP 2010
- Bundek, N. I., Marks, G., & Richardson, J. L. (1993). Role of health locus of control beliefs in cancer screening of elderly Hispanic women. *Health Psychology*, *12(3)*, 193-199. doi: 1037/0278-6133.12.3.193

Buster, K. J., Zhiying, M. D., Fouad, M., & Elmets, C. (2012). Skin cancer risk perceptions: A comparison across ethnicity, age, education, gender, and income. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, *66*(5), 771-779. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2011.05.021

Cakir, B. O., Adamson, P., & Cingi, C. (2012). Epidemiology and economic burden of nonmelanoma skin cancer. *Facial Plastic Surgery Clinics of North America*, 20(4), 419-42. doi: 10.1016/j.fsc2012.07.004

- Cancer Research, UK. (2016a). *Melanoma risks and causes*. Retrieved from www.canceresearchuk.org/about-cancer/type/melanoma/about/melanoma-risksand-causes
- Cancer Research, UK. (2016b). *Types of treatment for skin cancer*. Retrieved from www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/type/skin-cancer/treatment/which-treatment-for-skin-cancer
- Cancer Treatment Centers of America. (2016). *Skin Cancer*. Retrieved from www.cancercenter.com/community/infographics/#skincanceroverview
- Cantor, D., Coa, K., Crystal-Mansour, S., Davis, T., Dipko, S., & Sigman, R. (2015). *Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS 2007) Final Report*. Prepared for National Cancer Institute. Retrieved from hints.cancer.gov

 Cantor, D., Covell, J., Davis, T., Park, I., & Rizzo, L. (2005). *Health Information National Trends Survey 2005 (HINTS 2005) Final Report*. National Cancer Institute. Retrieved from http://www.hints.cancer.gov/docs/HINTS 2005 Final Report.pdf

- Carpenter, C. J. (2010). A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of health belief model variables in predicting behavior. *Health Communication*, 25(8), 661-669. doi: 10.1080/10410236.2010.521906
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016a). *Rates of new melanomas deadly skin cancers – have doubled over last three decades*. Retrieved from www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2015/p0602-melanoma-cancer
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016b). *What can I do to reduce my risk of skin cancer*. Retrieved from www.cdc.gov/cancer/skin/basic=info/prevention
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016c). *Indoor Tanning is not safe*. Retrieved from www.cdc.gov/cancer/skin/basic_info/indoor_tanning
- Champion, V. L., & Skinner, C. S. (2008). The Health Belief Model. In K. Glanz, B. K. Rimer, & K. Viswanath (Eds.), *Health Behavior and Health Education* (4th ed., pp. 45-66). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Chang, L., & Krosnick, J. A. (2009). National surveys via RDD telephone interviewing vs. the internet: Comparing sample representativeness and response quality.
 Public Opinion Quarterly, 73(4), 641-67. doi: 10.1093/poq/nfp075
- Chen, S., & Lin, C. (2010). Predictors of adopting a health promoting lifestyle among worksite adults with prediabetes. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *19*, 2713-2719. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2010.03320.x
- Chen, Y., & Feeley, T. H. (2014). Numeracy, information seeking, and self-efficacy in managing health: An analysis using the 2007 Health Information National Trends

Survey (HINTS). Health Communication, 29(9), 843-853. doi:

10.1080/10410236.2013.807904

- Ch'ng, J. W. M., & Glendon, A. I. (2013). Predicting sun protection behaviors using protection motivation variables. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *37*(2), 245-256. doi: 10:1007/s10865-012-9482
- Conner, M., & Norman, P. (2005). (Eds.). *Predicting health behavior* (2nd Ed., rev.). Buckingham, England: Open University Press.
- Coups, E. J., Geller, A. C., & Pagoto, S. L. (2016). The US Food and Drug
 Administration's proposed rule to increase regulation of indoor tanning devices.
 Journal of American Medical Association Dermatology, 152(2), 509-510.
 doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2016.0504
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Cust, A. E., Armstrong, B. K., Goumas, C., Jenkins, M. A., Schmid, H., Hopper J. L., Kefford, R. F., Giles, G. G., Altken, J. F., & Mann, G. J. (2011). Sunbed use during adolescence and early adulthood is associated with increased risk of earlyonset melanoma. *International Journal of Cancer*, *128*, 2425-2435. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25576
- Dar-Nimrod, I., Cheung, B. Y., Ruby, M. B., & Heine, S. J. (2014). Can merely learning about obesity genes affect eating disorder? *Appetite*, *81*, 269-276. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2014.06.109

- Dar-Nimrod, I., & Heine, S. J. (2011). Genetic essentialism: On the deceptive determinism of DNA. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137(5), 800–818. doi: 10.1037/a0021860
- Diao, D. Y., & Lee, T. K. (2014). Sun-protective behavior in populations at high-risk for skin cancer. *Psychology Research and Behavior Management*, 4(7), 9-18. doi: 10.2147/PRBN.S40457
- Dore, J-F, & Chignol, M-C. (2012). Tanning salons and skin cancer. *Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences, 11*, 30-37. doi: 10.1039/C1PP05186E
- El Ghissassi, F., Baan, R., Straif, K., Grosse, Y., Secretan, B., Bouvard, V., Benbrahim-Tallaa, L., Guha, N., Freeman, C., Galichet, L., Cogliano, V. (2009). WHO
 International Agency for Research on Cancer Monograph Working Group: A review of human carcinogens part D: radiation. *Lancet Oncology, 10*(8), 751-752. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70213-x
- Espinosa de Los Monteros, K., & Gallo, L. C. (2011). The relevance of fatalism in the study of Latinas' cancer screening behavior: A systematic review of the literature. *International Journal of Behavior Medicine, 18*(4). doi: 10.1007/s12529-010-9119-4
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. & Buchner (2009). G*Power: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149-1160. doi: 10.3758/BRM.414.1149
- Fakherpour, A., Ghaem, H., Fattahi, Z., & Zaree, S. (2018). Maternal and anaesthesiarelated risk factors and incidence of spinal anaethesia-induced hypotension in

elective caesarean section: A multinomial logistic regression. *Indian Journal of Anaesthesia*, 62(1), 36-46. doi: 10.4103/ija.IJA.416.17

- Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Finney Rutten, L.J., Davis, T., Burke Beckjord, E., Blake, K., Moser, R. P., Hesse, B. W. (2012). Picking up the pace: Changes in method and frame for the Health Information National Trends Survey (2011-2014). *Journal of Health Communication*, *17*(8), 979-989. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2012.700998
- Fowler, F. J. (2009). *Survey research methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). Research methods in the social sciences (7th ed.). New York City, NY: Worth Publishers.
- Geller, A. C. (2002). Use of sunscreen, sunburning rates, and tanning bed use among more than 10,000 US children and adolescents. *Pediatrics, 109*, 1009-1014. doi: 10.1542/peds.109.6.1009
- Ghodsbin, F., Zare, M., Jahanbin, I., Anafar, A., & Keshavarzi, S. (2014). Health beliefs associated with cancer screening behaviors explored for prostate screening among retired men. *International Journal of Community Based Nursing and Midwifery*, 2(4), 279-285.
- Glanz, K., & Bishop, D. B. (2010). The role of behavioral science theory in development and implementation of public health interventions. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *31*, 399-418. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.012809.103604

- Glanz, K., Rimer, B. K., & Lewis, F. M. (Eds.). (2008). Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Gravetter. F. J., & Wallnau, L. B. (2009). *Statistics for the behavioral sciences* (8th ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Green, A. C., Williams, G. M., Logan, V., & Strutton, G. M. (2011). Reduced melanoma after regular sunscreen use: Randomized trial follow-up. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 29(3), 257-263. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.28.7078
- Grieve, R., Wittenveen, K., Tolan, G. A., & Jacobson, B. (March 1, 2014). Development and validation of a measure of cognitive and behavioral social self-efficacy. *Personality and Individual Differences, 59*, 71-76. doi:

10.1016/j.paid.2013.11.008

Griffiths, D. (2009). Head first statistics. Sebastopol, CA: O'Reilly Media, Inc.

- Guy, G. P., Berkowitz, Z., Watson, M. Holman, D. M., & Richardson, L. C. (2013).
 Indoor tanning among young non-Hispanic white females. *Journal of American Medical Association Internal Medicine*, *173*(20), 1920-1922. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.10013
- Han, P. K., Moser, R. P., & Klein, W. M. (2007). Perceived ambiguity about cancer prevention recommendations: Associations with cancer-related perceptions and behaviors in a US population survey. *Health Expectations, 10*(4), 321-336. doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2007.00456x

- Haukkala, A., Konttinen, H., Hankonen, N., Perola, M., Kaariainen, H., & Salomaa, V. (2015). Genetic causal beliefs about morbidity: Associations with health behaviors and health outcome beliefs about behavior changes between 1982-2002 in the Finnish population. *BioMed Central Public Health*, *15*, 389-397. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1657-x
- He, X. (2014). Abstract 5057: The role of health locus of control and self-efficacy beliefs in sunscreen use: Evidence from 2012 Health Information National Trends Survey. *Cancer Research*. AACR Annual Meeting, April 2014. Retrieved from cancerres.aajournals.org/Content/74/19_Supplement/15057.short
- Heckman, C. J., Darlow, S., Cohen-Filipic, J., Kloss, J. D., Manne, S. L., Munshi, T., & Perlis, C. S. (2012). Psychosocial correlates of sunburn among young adult women. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 9(6), 2241–2251. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph9062241
- Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). (2005). Retrieved from http://www.hints.cancer.gov
- Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). (2014). Retrieved from http://www. hints.cancer.gov
- Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). (2017). Retrived from http://www.hints.cancer.gov
- Hill, D., Dobbinson, S., & Makin, J. (2009). Intervention to lower ultraviolet radiation exposure: Education, legislation and public policy. *ResearchGate*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281581574

Institution for Digital Research and Education. (2018). Retrieved from https:

idre.ucla.edu/featured/exec

International Agency for Research on Cancer. (2009). *Sunbeds and UV Radiation*. Retrieved from http://www.iarc.fr/en/mediacentre/iarcnews/2009/sunbeds_uvradiation.php

Introduction to SAS. (2018). UCLA: Statistical Consulting Group. Retrieved from https://stats.idre.ucla.edu/sas/modules/sas-learning-moduleintroduction-to-thefeatures-of-sas

- Isites-Harvard. (2016). *Statistics 100 Simple and multiple regression*. Retrieved from isites.Harvard.edu/fs/docs/icb/top
- Janssen, E., Waters, E. A., van Osch, L., Lechner, L., & de Vries, H. (2014). The importance of affectively-laden beliefs about health risks: The case of tobacco use and sun protection. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 37(1), 11-21. doi: 10.1007/s10865-012-9462-9
- Janz, N. K., & Becker, M. H. (1984). The Health Belief Model: A decade later. *Health Education & Behavior, 11*(1), 1-47. doi: 10.1177/109019818401100101
- Janz, N. K., Champion, V. L., & Strecher, V. J. (2002). *The Health Belief Model*. In K. Glanz, B. K. Rimer, & F. M. Lewis (Eds.), Health behavior and health education (3rd ed., pp. 45-66). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Jaslow, R. (2013). Consumer Reports' sunscreen ratings show price doesn't mean protection. Retrieved from http://www.cbsnews.com/news/consumer-reports-sunscreen-ratings-show-price-doesnt-mean-protection/

Jimmenez, S. S. (2006). *Inspiring academic confidence in the classroom: An investigation of features of the classroom experience that contribute to the academic self-efficacy of undergraduate women enrolled in gateway courses.* Dissertation complete at the University of Wisconsin-Madison.

Jones, C. J., Smith, H. E., Frew, A. J., Du Toit, G., & Mukhopadhyay, S., and Llewellyn, C. (2014). Explaining adherence to self-care behaviors amongst adolescents with food allergy: A comparison of the health belief model and the common sense self-regulation model. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *19*(1), 65-82. doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12033

- Kamimura, A., Nourian, M. M., Ashby, J., Trink, H. N., Tabler, J., Assanik, N., & Lewis,
 B. K. H. (2015). Sun protection behaviors associated with self-efficacy,
 susceptibility, and awareness among uninsured primary care patients utilizing a
 free clinic. *Dermatology Research & Practice*. Retrieved from
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015753681
- Kamran, A., Ahari, S. S., Biria, M., Malpour, A., & Heydari, H. (2014). Determinants of patients' adherence to hypertension medications: Application of health belief model among rural patients. *Annals of Medical & Health Sciences Research*, 4(6), 922-927. doi: 10.4103/2141-9248.144914
- Kiviniemi, M. T., & Ellis, E. M. (2014). Worry about skin cancer mediates the relation of perceived cancer risk and sunscreen use. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *37*(6), 1069-1074. doi: 10.1007./s10865-013-9538-1

- Knight, J. M., Kirincich, A. N., Farmer, E. R., & Hood, A. F. (2002). Awareness of the risks of tanning lamps does not influence behavior among college students. *Archeological Dermatology*, *138*(10), 1311-1315. doi: 10.1001/archderm.138.10.1311
- Kunin-Batson, A., Steele, J., Mertens, A., & Neglia, J. P. (2015). A randomized controlled pilot trial of a Web-based resource to improve cancer knowledge in adolescent and young adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Psycho-Oncology*. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1002/pon.3956
- Laerd Statistics. (2018). *Multinomial logistic regression using SPSS statistics*. Retrieved from https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/multinomial-logistic-regression-using-spss-statistics.php
- Lazovich, D., Vogel, R. I., Weinstock, M. A., Nelson, H. H., Ahmed, R. L., Berwick, M. (2016). Association between indoor tanning and melanoma in younger men and women. *Journal of American Medical Association Dermatology*. doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2015.2938
- Leite, W. L., & Cooper, L. A. (2010). Detecting social desirability bias using factor mixture models. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 45(2), 271-293. doi: 10.1080/00273171003680245
- Little, E. G., & Eide, M. J. (2012). Update on the current state of melanoma incidence. *Dermatology Clinics*, *30*(3), 355-361. doi: 10.1016/j/det.2012.04.001005

- Luszcynska, A., & Schwarzer, R. (2005). Social cognitive theory. In M. Conner & P.
 Norman (Eds.), Predicting health behavior (2nd ed. Rev., pp. 127-169).
 Buckingham, England: Open University Press.
- Mahler, H. I. M. (2015). Interventions to promote sun protection behaviors: What do we know about health-and appearance-based messages and the role of cognitions and emotions? *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 9(5), 238–251. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12173
- Mayo Clinic. (2016). *Skin Cancer Symptoms*. Retrieved from www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/skin-cancer/basics/symptoms/con-20031606
- Mays, D., Murphy, S.E., Bubly, R., Atkins, M. B., Tercyak, K. P. (2016). Support for indoor tanning policies among young adult women who indoor tan. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 1-9. doi:10.1007/s13142-016-0432-6
- Moser, R. (2016, May). Analytic techniques for HINTS. *How-To-HINTS Workshop* (webinar). Retrieved from https://hints.cancer.gov/meetings-trainings/how-to-hints-webinar
- Nahar, V. K., Ford, M. A., Boyas, J. F., Brodell, R. T., Hutcheson, A., Davis, R. Beason, K. R., Bass, M. A., Biviji-Sharma, R. (2014). Skin cancer preventative behaviors in state park workers: a pilot study. *Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine*, *19*(6), 467–474. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1007/s12199-014-0412-8

- Nahar, V. K., Ford, M. A., Hallam, J. S., Bass, M. A., Hutcheson, A., & Vice, M. A. (2013). Skin cancer knowledge, beliefs, self-efficacy, and preventative behaviors among North Mississippi landscapers. *Dermatology Research and Practice*. doi: 10.1155/2013/496913
- National Cancer Institute. (2010). *Cancer trends progress report: UV exposure and sun protective practices*. National Institutes of Health, U. S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from http://progressreport.cancer.gov/prevention/sun protection
- National Cancer Institute. (2015). *Health Information National Trends Survey 4 (HINTS*4) Cycle 4 Methodology Report. Prepared for National Cancer Institute. Retrieved from hints.cancer.gov
- National Cancer Institute. (2016a). *Cancer trends progress report 2011-2012 update*. Retrieved from
 - http://progressreport.cancer.gov/doc_detail.asp?pid=1&did=2011&child=101&co id
- National Cancer Institute. (2016b). *Cancer trends progress report: UV exposure and sun protective practices*. Retrieved from

http://progressreport.cancer.gov/prevention/sun_protection

- National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2015). Retrieved from http://www.nih.gov
- Newsom, R. W. (2015). Multiple logistic regression and model fit multiple logistic regression. *Semantic Scholar*. Retrieved from

https://pdfs.smeanticscholar.org/7ad4/248e2960065bla3945c806ca494be5a70b15. pdf

- Noar, S. M., Myrick J, Morales-Pico B, & Thomas NE. (2014). Development and validation of the comprehensive indoor tanning expectations scale. *JAMA Dermatology*, 150(5), 512-521. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.9086
- North American Association of Central Cancer Registries. (2016). NAACR facts stats: An interactive quick tool for quick access to key NAACR cancer statistics. Retrieved from http://www.naaccr.org/
- Olsen, C. M., Carroll, H. J., & Whiteman, D. C. (2010). Familial melanoma: A metaanalysis and estimates of attributable fraction. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Preview*, 19(1), 65-73. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0928
- Pratt, H., Hassanin, K., Troughton, L. D., Czanner, G., Zheng, Y., McCormick, A. G. (2017). UV imaging reveals facial areas that are prone to skin cancer are disproportionately missed during sunscreen application. *PLOSone*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185297
- Pallant, J. (2010). SPSS survival manual (4th ed.). New York City, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Pan, M., & Geller, L. (2015). Update on indoor tanning legislation in the United States. *Clinical Dermatology*, 33(3), 387-392. doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2014.12.016
- Pertl, M., Hevey, D., Thomas, K., Craig, A., Chuinneagáin, S. N., & Maher, L. (2010).Differential effects of self-efficacy and perceived control on intention to perform

skin cancer-related health behaviours. *Health Education Research*, 25(5), 769–779. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyq031

- Rat, C., Quereux, G., Riviere, C., Clouet, S., Senand, R., Volteau, C., Dreno, B.,
 Ndguyen, J-M. (2014). Targeted melanoma prevention intervention: A cluster
 randomized controlled trial. *Annals of Family Medicine*, *12*(1), 21-28. Retrieved
 from www.annfammed.org
- Reisi, M., Javadzade, S. H., Shahnazi, H., Sharifirad, G., Charkazi, A., & Moodi, M.
 (2014). Factors affecting cigarette smoking base on health belief model structures in pre-university students in Isfahan, Iran. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion, 3*(23). doi: 10.4103/2277-9531.127614
- Robinson, J. D., Silk, K. J., Parrott, R. L., Steiner, C., Morris, S. M., Honeycutt, C.
 (2004). Healthcare provicers' sun-protection promotion and at-risk clients' skincancer-prevention outcomes. *Preventive Medicine*, *38*, 251-257. Retrieved from www.sciencedirect.com
- Ronzio, R. A., & Ronzio, P. A. (2012). Insight-motivated learning: A model to improve stress management and adherence to chronic health conditions. *Integrative Medicine*, 11(2), 22-28. Retrieved from http://www.imjournal.com
- Rosenstock, I. M. (1960). What research in motivation suggests for public health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *50*, 295-302. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.50.3
- Rosenstock, I. M. (1974). Historical origins of the Health Belief Model. *Health Education & Behavior*, 2(4), 328-335. doi: 10.1177/109019717400200403

- Rosenstock, I. M., Strecher, V. J., & Becker, M. H. (1988). Social learning theory and the health belief model. *Health Education & Behavior*, 15(2), 175-183. doi: 10.1177/109019818801500203
- Rotter, J. B. (1954). *Social learning and clinical psychology*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Rutten, L. J. F., Davis, T., Beckjord, E. B., Blake, K., Moser, R. P., & Hesse, B. W. (2012). Picking up the pace: Changes in method and frame for the Health Information National Trends Surveys (2011-2014). *Journal of Health Communication*, *17*(8), 979-989. doi: 10:1080/10810730.2012.700998
- Saeed, S.A., & Bruce, T. J. (March 15, 1998). Seasonal Affective Disorders. American Family Physician, 57(6), 1340-1346.
- Schulman, J. M., & Fisher, D. E. (2009). Indoor UV tanning and skin cancer: Health risks and opportunities. *Current Opinion Oncology*, 21(2), 144-149. doi: 10.1097/CCO.0b013e3283252fc5
- Skin Cancer Foundation. (2017). *Skin cancer facts and statistics*. Retrieved from www.skincancer.org/skin-cancer-information/skin-cancer-facts#general
- Synowiec-Pilat, M. (2015). Older people's beliefs in prevention and etiology of cancer in Poland. Implications for health promotion. *Anthropological Review*, 78(3), 289-296. doi: 10.1515/anre-2015-0022
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2012). Using multivariate statistics (6th ed.). Boston,MA: Pearson Education.

Taber, J. M., & Aspinwall, L. G. (2015). Framing recommendations to promote prevention behaviors among people at high risk: A simulation study of responses to melanoma genetic test reporting. *Journal of Genetic Counseling, 24*(5), 771-82. doi: 10.1007/s10897-014-9808-2.

Tan, C. H., MatJafri, M. Z., Omar, A. F., & Maryam, W. (May, 2018). The performance and stability of titanium dioxide and ethythexyl methoxycinnamate as sunscreen filter: A comparison study. Proc. SPIE 10685, Biophotonics: Photonic Solutions for Better Health Care. doi: 10.1117/12.2307337. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2307337

- Tangpricha, V., Turner, A., Spina, C., Decastro, S., Chen, T. C., & Holick, M. F. (2004).
 Tanning is associated with optimal vitamin D status (serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration) and higher bone mineral density. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 80(6), 1645-1649.
- Tardiff, S. (2010). A cross-sectional investigation into the relationship among personality characteristics, genetic skin cancer risk, and behavioral skin cancer risk in white males age 35 and over (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest (UMI 3396368).
- Tripp, M. K., Watson, M., Balk, S. J., Swetter, S. M., & Gershenwald, J. E. (2016). State of the science on prevention and screening to reduce melanoma incidence and mortality: The time is now. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21352

- Tucker, C., Cassidy, R., & Lepkowski, J. (1993). A hierarchy of list-assisted stratified telephone sample design options. Paper presented at the Annual Conference of the American Association for Public Opinion Research, St. Charles, IL.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2014). *The Surgeon General's call to action to prevent skin cancer. Reports of the Surgeon General*. Retrieved from http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/calls/prevent-skin-cancer/
- U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Energy and Commerce Minority Staff.
 (2012, February 1). False and misleading information provided to teens by the indoor tanning industry Investigative report. Retrieved from https://www.medicine.uiowa.edu/uploadedFiles/Departments/Dermatology/Content/About_Us/Investigative%20report.pdf
- University of California School of Medicine. (2016). *Types of skin cancers*. Retrieved from www. dermatology.ucsf.edu/skincancer/transplant/cancers.aspx
- Valle, C. G., Tate, D. F., Mayer, D. K., Allicock, M., Cai, J., Campbell, M. K. (2016).
 Physical activity in young adults: A signal detection analysis of Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) data. *Journal of Health Communication, 20*(2), 134-146146. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2014.917745
- vcefurthermaths (2018). *Maths tutorial: Patterns and trends in time series plots (statistics)*. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=caOrDWo7lpl
- Volkov, A., Dobbinson, S., Wakefield, M., & Slevin, T. (2013). Seven-year trends in sun protection and sunburn among Australian adolescents and adults. *Australian NZJ Public Health*, 37(1), 63-69. doi: 10.1111.1753-6405.12012

- Walden University. (2013). *Walden Catalog. Vision, Mission, and Goals*. Retrieved from catalog.walden.edu/content.php?catoid=61&navoid=9236
- Wang, C., & Coups, E. J. (2010). Causal beliefs about obesity and associated health behaviors: Results from a population-based survey. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7(19). Retrieved from http://www.ijbnpa.org/content/7/1/19
- Waters, E. A., Muff, J., & Hamilton, J. (2014). Multifactorial beliefs about the role of genetics and behavior in common health conditions: Prevalence and associations with participant characteristics and engagement in health behaviors. *Genetics in Medicine*, 16(12), 913-921. doi: 10.1038/gim.2014.49
- WebMD. (2016). Understanding skin cancer diagnosis and treatment. Retrieved from www.webmd.com/melanoma-skin-cancer/understanding-skin-cancertreatment
- Wehner, M. R., Chren, M. M., Nameth, D., Choudhry, A., Gaskins, M., Nead, K. T.,
 Boscardin, W. J., & Linos, E. (2014). International prevalence of indoor tanning:
 a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of American Medical Association Dermatology*, 150(4), 390-400. doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.6896
- Wehner, M. R., Shive, M. L., Chren, M. M., Han, J., Qureshi, A. A., Linos, E. (2012). Indoor tanning and non-melanoma skin cancer: Systematic review and metaanalysis. *British Medical Journal*, 345, e5909. doi: 101136/bmj.e5909
- Weir, H. K., Marrett, L. D., Cokkinides, V., Barnholtz-Sloan, J., Patel, P., Tai, E., Jernal,A., Li., J., Kim, J., & Ekwueme, D. U. (2011). Melanoma in adolescents and

young adults (ages 15-39): United States, 1999-2006. Journal of American

Academic Dermatology, 65(5 Suppl 1), S38-S49. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2011.04.035

Wolff System Technology. (2004). *Research study profiles indoor tanners*. Retrieved from http://www.wolffsystem.com/survey.html

Woo, D. K., & Eide, M. J. (2010). Tanning beds, skin cancer, and Vitamin D: An examination of the scientific evidence and public health complications.
 Dermatology Therapy, 23, 61-71. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-8019.2009.01291.x

World Health Organization. (2016). *Sunbeds*. Retrieved from www.whoint/uv/faq/sunbeds/en/index5